AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

DEPRESSION INDUCED BY EARLY-LIFE HYPOXIC SEIZURES: PATHOGENESIS AND MOLECULAR ALTERATIONS

by MARIE-MICHELE GEORGES EL SERGHANI

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science to the Department of Anatomy, Cell Biology and Physiological Sciences of the Faculty of Medicine at the American University of Beirut

> Beirut, Lebanon September 2021

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

DEPRESSION INDUCED BY EARLY-LIFE HYPOXIC SEIZURES: PATHOGENESIS AND MOLECULAR ALTERATIONS

BY

MARIE-MICHELE GEORGES EL SERGHANI

Approved by: Makram Obeid, Assistant Professor Advisor Department of Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine Member of Committee Marwan El-Sabban, Professor Department of Anatomy, Cell Biology and Physiological Sciences

Rihab Nasr, Associate Professor Department of Anatomy, Cell Biology and Physiological Sciences

Member of Committee

Abdo Jurjus, Professor

Department of Anatomy, Cell Biology and Physiological Sciences Member of Committee

Date of thesis defense: September 3, 2021

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

THESIS RELEASE FORM

Student Name: _____El Serghani _____Marie-Michele _____Georges ____

I authorize the American University of Beirut, to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of my thesis; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes:

 \boxtimes As of the date of submission

One year from the date of submission of my thesis.

Two years from the date of submission of my thesis.

Three years from the date of submission of my thesis.

TUUT

September 14, 2021

Signature

Date

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Makram Obeid, for the invaluable guidance he has provided me throughout this year. His dynamism, vision, sincerity, and motivation have deeply encouraged me during my research. His insightful feedbacks have pushed me to sharpen my thinking and brought my work to a higher level. His resilience is truly inspiring. Even during the toughest times, he never failed to provide us the support, empathy, and sense of humor we need. It was a great privilege to study under his guidance.

I also wish to extend my deepest gratitude to the amazing team I got the opportunity to work with. I am forever grateful for Dr. Helen Hajjar that made sure to teach me all the skills I need to pursue my research. I am also indebted to Houssam Al Koussa, Rita Asdikian, Sana Al Turk, Soundos Moussa, and Jean Pierre Asdikian who put all their efforts to accompany me throughout this journey. Not to forget my amazing colleagues and friends, Reem El Jammal, Ali Tfaily, and Alaa Pishkar, who were like a family to me and with whom I have made unforgettable memories.

I am thankful for my loving my parents, Georges and Micheline, my brothers, Emile and Joseph, for being a constant source of love. I would like to particularly thank my uncle, Dr. Joseph Serghani, who has been an exceptional source of motivation and inspiration to me. To all my friends and family, especially to Dr. Joey El Khoury, who went with me through all the ups and downs, to Sally Kfoury, who encouraged me to apply for this master's degree, thank you all for your love and patience. The presence of every one of you has sure made this road easier. I am incredibly lucky to have you all in my life.

ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

Marie-Michele Georges El Serghani

for

<u>Master of Science</u> <u>Major</u>: Neuroscience

Title: <u>Depression Induced by Early-life Hypoxic Seizures: Pathogenesis and Molecular</u> <u>Alterations</u>

Background: Children with epilepsy are more likely to develop depression which reduces their quality of life and leads to higher suicide risks in adolescence. The treatment of depression that accompanies epilepsy is understudied and effective therapeutic approaches remain elusive, let alone the fact that some antidepressant drugs have proconvulsant properties, increasing the risk of seizures. This renders the treatment of depression in pediatric patients suffering from epilepsy even more challenging. Thus, improving our understanding of the molecular pathways involved in epilepsy and depression is fundamental to optimize therapeutic strategies. Prior work in our rat model of neonatal hypoxic encephalopathy revealed the emergence of periadolescent depressive-like behaviors following early life hypoxic seizures (HS), potentially via HS-induced hippocampal TrkB (tropomyosin-related kinase) receptor pathway dysfunction. Investigating whether the mechanisms of depression induced by early-life HS are similar to those of major depression holds an important translational clinical value. Sertraline, a standard clinically employed antidepressant, is a serotonergic drug that was also shown to exert a serotonin-related modulation of the TrkB pathway in rodent models of major depressive disorders. Here, we aimed to investigate whether sertraline is effective against HS-induced depression and to assess possible molecular alterations mediating HS-induced deficits.

Methods: Hypoxia was induced in postnatal day 10 (P10) rat pups while the rest remained under normoxic conditions. Only pups that experienced 6 seizures or more were included in this study. The rats were then divided into 4 groups: NV (normoxic with vehicle water), HV (hypoxic seizure with vehicle water), NSERT (normoxic with sertraline), and HSERT (hypoxic seizure with sertraline). Sertraline was administered via drinking water between P24 and P30. Depressive-like and anxiety-like behaviors were then investigated in the forced swim test (P25-26) and the open field test (P27), sequentially. Rats were sacrificed at P30. Potential neuronal cell loss and alteration in synaptic plasticity were assessed through immunohistochemistry via Neu-N and synaptophysin (SYP) staining, respectively.

Results: Rats in both HV and HSERT groups had a comparable number of seizures (p>0.05). Rats' weight and water consumption were comparable among all groups between P21 and P30 (p>0.05). During the first testing day of the forced swim test, the HV group revealed increased immobility when compared to controls (NV) (p<0.05).

HSERT immobility percentages were comparable to those of the NV group (p>0.05). Nonetheless, during the second testing day, NV and HV groups had a comparable immobility time (p>0.05), with a lower immobility percentage observed in HSERT and NSERT groups when compared to NV and HV (p<0.05). During the first testing day of the FST, the high activity percentages of HV, NV, and NSERT groups were comparable (p>0.05). However, the high activity time of the HSERT group was significantly higher than that of the NSERT group (p<0.05). On the second testing day, both NV and HV had comparable high activity percentages (p>0.05), while the HSERT group had a high activity percentage significantly higher than that of both NV and HV (p<0.05). In the open field test, the cumulative total distance traveled by the HV rats was significantly lower than that of the NV group (p<0.05). The HSERT group had a total distance traveled comparable to that of the HV and NSERT groups (p>0.05). The HV group traveled a total distance in the open field significantly lower than that of the NV group (p<0.05). The HSERT group traveled a total distance significantly lower than that of the NV group (p<0.05), but comparable to that of the HV group (p>0.05). The NSERT group traveled a total distance significantly lower than that of the NV group (p<0.05). HV rats spent significantly more time and traveled less in the periphery when compared to NV (p<0.05). The HSERT and HV groups traveled a comparable distance in the periphery (p>0.05), but the HSERT group spent more time in the periphery when compared to HV (p<0.05). The NSERT group spent more time in the periphery when compared to NV (p<0.05). The HV group spent a significantly lower time and traveled a smaller distance in the center when compared to NV (p<0.05). The HSERT group spent a significantly lower time and traveled a smaller distance in the center when compared to NV (p<0.05). HV and HSERT groups had a similar distance traveled in the center, but the HSERT group spent less time in the center when compared to HV (p<0.05). The NSERT group spent a significantly lower time and traveled a smaller distance in the center when compared to NV (p<0.05). Preliminary histological data revealed comparable neuronal densities in all groups; however, SYP seems to be overexpressed in the prefrontal cortex and the hippocampus of HV rats in the hilar and CA2-3 regions when compared to NV.

Conclusion: Our early-life hypoxic-seizure model successfully recapitulates depressive-like and anxiety-like behaviors in peri-adolescent rats similar to the behavioral defects observed in pediatric patients who have suffered from perinatal hypoxic-ischemia. Short-term sertraline administration reversed depressive-like behaviors in the treated rats; however, it failed to reverse and exacerbated hypoxic seizure-induced anxiety. These effects on anxiety and depression are commonly observed early in the treatment course with antidepressants. The hypoxic-seizure-associated behavioral deficits seem to be mediated by maladaptive changes in markers of synaptic plasticity. These results confirm cognitive and emotional behavioral derangements correlated with early-life hypoxic seizures highlighting the necessity of treating seizure-associated behavioral comorbidities. Investigating the effects of a longer treatment duration will help determine if sertraline's chronic administration holds anxiolytic effects and will depict its optimal use in children who have suffered from hypoxic seizures.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS1
ABSTRACT2
ILLUSTRATIONS7
ABBREVIATIONS
INTRODUCTION
A. Hypoxic Ischemic Encephalopathy (HIE) of the newborn
 Disruption of the brain electrical activity in epilepsy
3. Molecular pathways alteration and cellular dysfunction
4. Modest efficacy of current treatment strategies
B. Later life psychiatric sequelae of hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy (HIE)31
1. Comorbidities in epilepsy
2. Depression and behavioral problems following hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy
3. Hippocampal and prefrontal cortex's contribution to cognitive and emotional regulation
4. Synaptic plasticity involvement in cognitive and behavioral regulation
C. Animal models for depression and hypoxic seizure studies
1. The Hypoxic Seizure model: model selection and hypoxia induction50
2. Emotional Behavior Testing: Depressive-like Behaviors
AIMS AND HYPOTHESIS

MATERIALS AND METHODS	53	
A. Animals and experimental design	53	
B. Hypoxia induction and inclusion criteria	54	
C. Sertraline administration	55	
D. Behavioral testing	55	
1. Forced swim test for the assessment of depressive-like behaviors		
2. Open filed test for the assessment of anxiety-like behaviors		
E. Euthanasia and cardiac perfusion	57	
F. Histological study and analysis	58	
1. Immunohistochemistry		
2. Image analyses		
G. Statistical analyses	61	
RESULTS	62	
A. Acute hypoxic seizures count	62	
B. Forced Swim Test	64	
C. Open Field Test	69	
D. Histological Analysis	73	
1. Hippocampal and prefrontal cortex neuronal cell count (NeuN)	73	
2. Hippocampal and prefrontal cortex synaptic plasticity marker (Syp)	73	
DISCUSSION	74	
LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVE	78	

CONCLUSION	79
REFERENCES	

ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure

1.	Hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy of the newborn14
2.	Developmental shift from immature to mature neurons
3.	Oxidative stress and hypoxia contribution to epileptogenesis
4.	Therapeutic hypothermia process
5.	Association between brain disorders, epilepsy and their comorbidities
6.	Schematic representation of the relationship between epilepsy and its associated co-morbidities
7.	SSRIs mechanism of action
8.	Brain stress axis (hippocampus and hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenocortical HPA axis
9.	The reward system in humans and rats
10.	Schematic representation of bdnf-trkb regulation in depression45
11.	Parts of the limbic system and reward system in humans and rat47
12.	Direct and indirect connections between the prefrontal cortex (PFC) and hippocampus and their functional roles
13.	Experimental design of the project
14.	Forced swim test experimental setup
15.	Open field zones
16.	Hippocampal areas division for analyses60
17.	Prefrontal cortex areas division for analysis
18.	The acute number of seizures recorded in hypoxic rats
19.	Weight monitoring after weaning
20.	Water consumption monitoring after weaning
21.	Immobility percentages during the first testing day of the forced swim test65
22.	Immobility percentages during the second testing day of the forced swim test.66
23.	High activity percentages during the first testing day of the forced swim test67

24. High activity percentages during the second testing day of the forced swim tes	
	0
25. Total distance traveled during all of the 3 sessions by the different groups7	0'
26. Total time spent and traveled in the periphery	'1
27. Total time spent and traveled in the center	'2
28. Hippocampal pyramidal neurons density	'3
29. Alteration in hippocampal synaptic plasticity marker, synaptophysin	'3

ABBREVIATIONS

- AC: anterior cingulate cortex
- AED: anti-epileptic drug treatment
- ASD: autism spectrum disorder
- ATP: adenosine triphosphate
- BDNF: brain-derived neurotrophic factor
- BW: birth weight
- CCC: cation chloride cotransporter
- COX-2: cyclooxygenase-2
- CP: cerebral palsy
- CT: computed tomography
- DAT: dopamine transporter
- dHPC: dorsal hippocampus
- GLUT-1: glucose transporter-1
- HIE: hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy
- HIF-1α: hypoxia-inducible factor-one alpha
- HPA: hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenocortical
- HPC: hippocampus
- HS: hypoxic seizures
- IL: infralimbic cortex
- KCC2: potassium chloride co-transporter
- MDD: major depressive disorders
- mPFC: medial prefrontal cortex
- MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging

MSB: maximal seizure burden

mTOR: mammalian target of rapamycin

NAc: nucleus accumbens

NE: neonatal encephalopathy

NET: norepinephrine transporter

NKCC1: sodium-potassium chloride cotransporter

NMDA: N-methyl-aspartate

NR: nucleus reuniens

OCD: obsessive-compulsive disorder

OGD: oxygen-glucose deficiency

PBS: phosphate-buffered saline

PDGF: platelet-derived growth factor

PET: positron emission tomography

PFA: paraformaldehyde

PFC: prefrontal cortex

PL: prelimbic cortex

ROS: reactive oxygen species

SD: sprague dawley

SERT: serotonin transporter

SNRI: serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors

SSRI: selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor

SYP: synaptophysin

TCA: tricyclic antidepressant

TRD: treatment-resistant depression

TrkB: tropomyosin receptor kinase B

TSB: total seizure burden

VEGF: vascular endothelial growth factor

vHPC: ventral hippocampus

VTA: ventral tegmental area

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

A. Hypoxic Ischemic Encephalopathy (HIE) of the newborn

Epilepsy affects 1 to 2% of the world's population (1,2). Seizure activity is caused by structural modifications in the brain. It has been hypothesized that a variety of mechanisms participate in the dysregulation of the central nervous system leading to epilepsy, as neuronal degeneration, disturbance in the blood-brain barrier, amygdala dysfunction, alterations in glutamate secretion, oxidative stress, hypoxic episodes, and epigenetics (3-9). Diagnostic and therapeutic applications are challenging, particularly in the case of neonatal seizures (10,11). There is growing proof that neonatal seizures result in detrimental neurodevelopmental outcomes, manifesting in cerebral palsy, psychomotor retardation, and the onset of post-neonatal epilepsy alongside psychiatric symptoms, as depression (12-15). The leading cause of those neonatal seizures is hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy (7). Treatment of these seizures and their neurocognitive sequelae, like depression, has not been well established. Furthermore, growing evidence is showing that the standardly used antidepressants worsen seizures, lower their threshold, and are ineffective in the treatment of their associated depression. Yet, the possibility of treating depression in epilepsy through selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) has not been well investigated (16).

1. Disruption of the brain electrical activity in epilepsy

Epilepsy affects 1 to 2% of the world's population (1,2). Seizure activity is caused by structural modifications in the brain. It has been hypothesized that a variety of mechanisms participate in the dysregulation of the central nervous system leading to epilepsy, as neuronal degeneration, disturbance in the blood-brain barrier, amygdala dysfunction, alterations in glutamate secretion, oxidative stress, hypoxic episodes, and epigenetics (3-9). Diagnostic and therapeutic applications are challenging, particularly in the case of neonatal seizures (10,11). There is growing proof that neonatal seizures result in detrimental neurodevelopmental outcomes, manifesting in cerebral palsy, psychomotor retardation, and the onset of post-neonatal epilepsy alongside psychiatric symptoms, as depression (12-15). The leading cause of those neonatal seizures is hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy (7). Treatment of these seizures and their neurocognitive sequelae, like depression, has not been well established. Furthermore, growing evidence is showing that the standardly used antidepressants worsen seizures, lower their threshold, and are ineffective in the treatment of their associated depression. Yet, the possibility of treating depression in epilepsy through selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) has not been well investigated (16).

2. Hypoxia is a relatively common condition in newborns with long term sequelae

Neonates subjected to severe brain anoxia during the perinatal period will develop hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy (HIE) (17). This reduced brain oxygenation can be caused by perinatal asphyxia, placental issues, congenital cardiac diseases, or by different problems immediately after birth, such as respiratory arrest (18) (Fig.1). In cases of severe hypoxemia, the brain as well as peripheral tissue (as the heart and muscles), will develop an oxygen debt resulting in anaerobic glycolysis, lactic acidosis, and subsequent physiological and neurobehavioral damages (19). Developed countries have a lower incidence of HIE (1 to 8 per 1000 live births), whereas this rate increases to reach 26 per 1000 live births in the developing world (20).



Figure 1. Hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy of the newborn. The reduced blood flow causes a decreased brain oxygenation leading to ischemia (24).

The underlying cellular mechanisms of this reduced brain oxygenation in HIE involve a variety of defects. This includes oxidative stress, a failure of energy production in mitochondria, and a variation of blood flow and brain tissue metabolism. As a result, necrosis might occur leading in many cases to cerebral palsy (CP) and higher mortality rates (21,22). The resulting CP is characterized by abnormal motor development along with neurobehavioral deficits (23).

a. Clinical diagnosis

Clinical symptoms can be subdivided into acute and chronic. Acute defects include for example seizures and difficulty breathing. Chronic symptoms include mental retardation, learning impairment, depression, cerebral palsy, and epilepsy (25-27). Infant brain injuries develop over time, hours to days post-incident; this provides an important window for neuro-protective applications. A close birth monitoring could help provide a prognosis for this condition: umbilical pH, blood gas check 1h after delivery, brain, and tissue biomarkers monitoring, neuroimaging, Apgar scores, and neurological changes surveillance are useful tools (22). A low Apgar score at 1, 5, and 10 min is correlated with potentially higher mortality risk or chronic motor disabilities (22). Another useful criterion would be the Sarnat and Sarnat scoring criteria for HIE. Lower scores of 1 - 10 characterize infants born with mild HIE, 11-14 moderate HIE whereas higher scores of 15-22 fall into severe cases of HIE (28). Epidemiological studies have shown that higher mortality levels were recorded among infants with severe and moderate HIE, with no death recorded in cases of mild HIE. Additionally, birth weight (BW) plays an important role regarding the survival of neonates: those with higher BW had significantly higher survival rates than infants born with low BW. This complies with previous studies done in other hospitals implying that new strategies to treat low BW should be implemented to increase infants' survival (22,29-31). Nonetheless, diagnosis based on clinical symptoms might be subjective and timeconsuming. Additionally, the application of computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) for HIE diagnosis is controversial due to fear of radioactive exposure and higher cost (32). Thus, new means of diagnosis are to be further investigated.

b. Long-term effects of seizure burden and lesions

The immature brain during neurodevelopment is characterized by enhanced excitation and reduced inhibition (33). Seizures often accompany HIE and are correlated with the development of later-life epilepsy. With hypoxia, those neonatal seizures contribute to energy depletion, cerebral blood flow alteration, and possible neuronal loss (34). A study revealed that the higher the seizure burden is, the worst the neurological outcome. Abnormal developments were recorded among neonates presenting a TSB (total seizure burden) of more than 40 min and an MSB (maximal seizure burden) of more than 13 min regardless of therapeutic hypothermia treatment (34). Infant surviving neonatal seizures suffer from global developmental delay alongside later intellectual disability or cerebral palsy (35). Spastic quadriparesis is the most encountered subtype of cerebral palsy (36). Motor, language, and cognitive functions can be assessed between the age of 24 to 48 months, but for a better motor disability identification, diagnosis at 2 years of age is the best. Cognitive skills and behaviors are best revealed at 6 to 7 years of age (34). The mentioned deficits are mediated by pathophysiological cellular dysfunctions.

The downstream physiological dysregulations resulting from HIE seizures progressively evolve, thus the timing of the treatment is important. Those defects develop over 3 phases. During the first 60 min post-injury, the primary phase consists of partial healing mechanisms. In the latent phase, occurring up to the 48th-hour post-injury, inflammatory responses, oxidative stress, and apoptosis take place in between the 1st and 6th hour (37). Between the 6th and 48th hour, excitatory neurotransmitters and free radicals are released with depletion of phosphate reserves (38). The tertiary phase, taking place months after ischemia, is as well characterized by apoptosis, in addition to a remodeling of the injured brain areas, and astrogliosis (39). Furthermore, many cellular pathways are altered post-HIE among which BDNF-TrkB, mTOR, as well as other membrane-bound receptors and channels.

3. Molecular pathways alteration and cellular dysfunction

a. Molecular pathways alteration

i. BDNF-TrkB pathway: brain-derived neurotrophic factor- tropomyosin receptor kinase B pathways

Neurotrophin BDNF has an important trophic role and participates in high cognitive functions. It is a major key factor determining the pathophysiology of many brain disorders including neurological diseases, neurodegenerative ones, psychiatric disorders, addiction, and schizophrenic psychosis (40). It plays an important role as well in neurogenesis (41). The fixation of BDNF on its receptor TrkB activates downstream effectors that alter synaptic plasticity and provide strong anti-hypoxic and neuroprotective effects after OGD (oxygen-glucose deficiency) (42-44). Some studies have found that BDNF and TrkB are permanently reduced in the brain regions affected by HIE (45). Thus, the upregulation of BDNF has been perceived as a possible means of treatment after hypoxic events (46). On the other hand, evidence has shown that HS might result in the activation of TrkB pathways. One TrkB isoform, the immature form of hypo-glycosylated TrkB (i-TrkB), is synthesized after episodes of intermittent hypoxia and results in ligand-independent TrkB signaling upon phosphorylation (47). This TrkB pathway activation participates in both acute and chronic epileptogenesis and can be reversed by CEP-701 (lestaurtinib), a drug with an established safety profile in

children suffering from acute myeloid leukemia (48,49). All the above proves that the fine homeostasis of the BDNF/TrkB pathways is of crucial importance in post-hypoxic ischemia. In fact, any dysregulation will result in detrimental effects. A better understanding of this pathway's functions will help develop new therapies aiming to reduce HI-induced physiological dysregulation.

ii. AMPA pathway: alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid

Glutamate receptors are excessively stimulated following HIE. The 3 major types of ionotropic glutamate receptors, NMDA, AMPA, and kainite receptors, are found in most neurons and glial processes (50). Those ionotropic receptors participate in activity-dependent neuronal plasticity and neuronal excitation for normal tasks involving glutamate as somatosensory functions, learning, and memory which suggests their involvement in HIE detrimental brain damages (51). Hyperactivation of this pathway in epilepsy is correlated with excitotoxicity involved in selective motor neurons death (52-54). Treatment of HS rats with AMPAR antagonists attenuates mossy fiber sprouting in the CA3 region, lowers the frequency of seizures, and reestablishes social novelty preferences (33). This strongly suggests the AMPA receptor's role in epileptogenesis and behavioral alterations.

iii. Cation chloride cotransporter: potassium chloride co-transporter KCC2 and sodium-potassium chloride cotransporter NKCC1

Cation chloride cotransporters (CCC) are differentially expressed along the nervous system in various neural cell types. Sodium potassium chloride cotransporter (NKCC1) and potassium chloride co-transporter (KCC2) are the main two active CCC involved in the accumulation and extrusion of Cl⁻ respectively. Those receptors are differentially expressed between immature and mature neurons. Recapitulation, reversing the normal developmental shift, might result in epilepsy onset (Fig. 2).

Prenatal hypoxia triggers a sustained KCC2 loss in the developing CA3 hippocampus (55). This KCC2 loss has been associated with cases of chronic epilepsy (55-58). Genetically ablating KKC2 in animal models leads to an increased seizure susceptibility through an impaired Cl⁻ homeostasis (59). Thus, targeting CCC constitutes a window of action for the development of novel therapeutic agents.



Figure 2. Developmental shift from immature to mature neurons. GABA binding to its GABAa receptors regulates the intraneuronal chloride concentration in immature and mature neurons. Immature neurons have high intracellular Cl- concentration and are characterized by an upregulated NKCC1 expression alongside a reduced expression of KCC2. Conversely, mature neurons exhibit lower intracellular Cl- concentration due to the upregulation of KCC2 and downregulation of NKCC1. Na+/K+ ATPase facilitates Cl- transport by creating an electrochemical gradient of Na+ and K+. When GABA binds to its receptors, ligand-gated Cl- permeable channel open letting Cl- as well as HCO3- out of the cell. The differential expression of NKCC1 and KCC2 among mature and premature neurons is disrupted in epilepsy as mature neurons undergo "recapitulation" disturbing the electrical signaling along the nervous system (60).

iv. mTOR pathway: mammalian target of rapamycin pathway

Stimuli as stress and energy levels deficiencies are sensed by the mTOR (mammalian target of rapamycin) pathway yielding the downstream activation of various cellular mechanisms as angiogenesis, cell growth, apoptosis, and autophagy. mTOR can regulate as well hypoxia-inducible factor-alpha1 (HIF-1 α) involved in hypoxic-ischemic sequelae (61,62). Glutamate secretion has been positively correlated with this pathway's activation, through Ca2+-mediated signaling cascades (63). Several studies have associated mTOR hyperactivation with seizure development observed in models of HS rats (33,49,64). This activation plays an important role in neuronal hyperexcitability, synaptic plasticity, and memory consolidation (65,66). A bidirectional interaction between AMPARs and mTOR pathways is observed post-HI (67). Treatment with rapamycin, mTORC1 inhibitor, reverses the increased glutaminergic transmission, reduces seizure, and improves autistic like-behaviors (68). For the above reasons, novel treatments aiming to downregulate mTOR are being further investigated.

b. Cellular dysfunction and oxidative stress post-hypoxic ischemia

Ischemic events lead to an altered cellular function causing the secretion of hypoxia-inducible factors and free radicals, inflammation, and apoptosis. A positive correlation between higher levels of HIF-1 α and epilepsy has been observed (69-71). An upregulation of HIF-1 α leads in some cases to treatment-resistant epilepsy. The elevated expression of HIF-1 α in hypoxia may be caused by insulin, insulin-like growth factor, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), epithelial growth factor, and interleukin-1B (72). HIF-1 α plays an important gene regulator role in tissues undergoing hypoxia. HIF-1 α upregulation results in angiogenesis, glycolysis, recruitment of glucose

transporter 1 (GLUT1), and neuronal accumulation of pyruvate (70,73). This accumulation might decrease intraneuronal pH altering metabolic state (Fig. 3) (73).



Figure 3. Oxidative stress and hypoxia contribution to epileptogenesis. COX-2 is activated by enzymatic and non-enzymatic pathway of ROS production with the increase HIF-1a under hypoxic condition. This leads to microglial activation and an excessive cytokine production inducing neuroinflammation. The dysregulation of HIF-1a, that usually regulates the glucose metabolism in the central nervous system (CNS) through GLUT-1 synthesis, may result in an accumulation of pyruvate in neuronal cells which is then converted into butyric acid via butyric dehydrogenase. This accumulation of by-products may lower intraneuronal pH yielding dysfunction and altering metabolic state. ROS, reactive oxygen species; COX-2, cyclooxygenase-2; HIF-1a, hypoxia inducible factor-1 alpha; GLUT-1, glucose transporter-1. Illustration by Paulina Szuba (74).

Febrile seizure observed in perinatal ischemia, or post-stroke and transient ischemic attacks could potentially be due to the upregulation of COX-2 and PGE-2 (prostaglandin E2) by the binding of HIF-1 α on the hypoxia-responsive element present on the COX2 promoter in DNA (75). This COX-2 activation has been correlated with hypoxia and oxidative stress pathways contributing to the deleterious impact of epilepsy

on the brain (Fig. 3) (76). Further neurological defects in HIE are caused by energy failure and reduced production of the adenosine triphosphate (ATP) due to mitochondrial dysfunction (77). Cytochrome c usually plays an important role in ATP production; however, a brain ischemic event causes oxidative stress inflicting the release of cytochrome c from the intermembrane space of mitochondria into the cytoplasm. This activates caspases and induces apoptosis. Furthermore, hypoxic events lead to intracellular anaerobic glycolysis resulting in the production of excitatory neurotransmitters like glutamate(78,79). The higher expression of glutamate facilitates Ca2+ influx into neural cells through both voltage-gated calcium channels and receptorregulated ones as N-methyl-aspartate [NMDA]. This entails the activation of proteases, lipases, and endonucleases leading to fatty acids release, such as arachidonic acid. The cell's antioxidant capacity is exceeded by the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and superoxide free radicals that activate the synthesis of cyclooxygenase and prostaglandin alongside other toxic metabolites (80-82). Additionally, the increased intracellular concentration of Ca²⁺ results in nitric oxide (NO) production by a nitric oxide synthase hypoxia-inducible isoform (iNOS) in microglia, macrophages, and neutrophils (83). Hydroxyl radicals are further produced, because of the activation of NO by superoxide (84). The accumulation of free radicals and glutamate secretion increases inflammatory and immunological responses (85-87). Brain injuries after a HI event manifest particularly through delayed neural cell death. This is mainly mediated by apoptotic pathways, extending from early phases of injury up to weeks; however, in cases of complete energy depletion necrotic cell death takes place (88).

c. <u>Mirco ribonucleic acid altered expressions in hypoxia: possible biomarker and treatment target</u>

EEGs are the main diagnostic tool for epilepsy; however, they present some low specificity (76). It is almost impossible to confirm epileptic seizures only through clinical examinations, except for the case of clonic seizures (89,90). This highlights the need for biomarkers as tools to indicate brain dysfunction, particularly micro ribonucleic acid miRNAs. In addition to their role in cellular processes as differentiation, and apoptosis, key functions of the CNS are regulated by these miRNAs, as neurogenesis, synaptic plasticity, and neuronal development (91,92). Thus, they might be involved in epileptogenesis (93). They are a convenient biomarker because they are easily accessible through minimally invasive biofluid collection in contrast to lumbar puncture. The presence of miRNA in biofluids might be caused by an active secretion during intracellular communication, a passive secretion caused by cellular damage, or a combination of both (94). In a homeostatic state, miRNAs downregulate ROS (95). However, this mechanism is disrupted in epilepsy. Those small non-coding ribonucleic acids alter protein synthesis by interfering with the translation or degradation of messenger RNAs (mRNA), thus modulating gene expressions (96,97). Several studies revealed an altered expression of miRNA after a transient focal cerebral ischemia, in hypoxic patients and patients suffering from temporal lobe epilepsy (98). This affects in turn the expression of HIF-1 α (99,100). A bidirectional interaction between miRNA and HIF-1 α has been established as well (100,101). Furthermore, those miRNAs can reflect neurobehavioral outcomes of newborns (102). miRNA could play both a role in the pathogenesis as well as in the repair. A study of the downstream targets of miRNA might provide information about the pathways involved, resulting in possible treatment targets (103).

4. Modest efficacy of current treatment strategies

The first line of action after a hypoxic-ischemic event is therapeutic hypothermia directly after birth (104). Yet, alone it is not sufficient as it does not ensure complete neuroprotection. Thus, novel therapeutic strategies are being developed to set new standards of care for the treatment of HIE (25).

a. Current standardly adopted therapeutic approaches

i. Therapeutic hypothermia

Therapeutic hypothermia is the standard clinical care performed to decrease the life-long morbidities of HIE. This treatment acts on the excito-oxidative cascade. It diminishes energy failure and restores the brain concentration of lactic acid, glutamate, and nitric oxide (105). The aim is to achieve whole-body cooling so that the core temperature reaches 33.5°C for 72h (106). Post-treatment, body temperature is increased by 0.5 degrees per hour till the temperature of the esophagus reaches 36.5/37 for 4h (Fig. 4) (107).



Figure 4. Therapeutic hypothermia process. Selective head cooling or full body cooling is applied to lower body temperature to 33.5 degrees Celsius for 72h. Cooling decreases the newborn's metabolic rate allowing cellular recovery and reducing the severity of brain damages (108).

Many studies investigate the optimal timing for treatment onset to achieve the best neuroprotective outcomes. It has been shown that treatment should best be done during the latent phase, starting at the 3rd hour after the ischemia (109,110). A study done by Thorsen et al. showed that neonates subjected to hypothermia < 180 min post hypoxia scored better in Bayley Scales of Infant Development II (111). Both, wholebody cooling and selective head cooling significantly improve survival rates, reduce sensorineural disabilities, neuromotor delay, cerebral palsy, and EEG changes, in treated infants in comparison with the control group (112,113). Treatment done as early as 6h after birth significantly improves neurocognitive outcomes and decreases mortality rates (114,115). However, prolonged durations of hypothermia (more than 6h), put children at risk, particularly those with low birth weight without procuring any additional positive outcome (107). Rat animal models of HIE also exhibit a similar sequel (116). In fact, cell death is delayed up to a week- before brain atrophy onset after a brief period of hypothermia of 32°C in P7 rat pups post-injury (117). Additionally, immediate hypothermia after birth increases survival rates of children at 6-7 years old, but with no significant difference in IQ levels compared to the control group (118). Nonetheless, in another study treated groups had significantly scored higher in IQ (more than 85) in comparison with the non-treated group at 6-7 years of age (119). In postnatal day 7 (P7) rat pups models of HIE, the optimal temperature of whole-body cooling lies between 32° and 33.5° C (33.5° being the one admitted in human treatments). It is important to note that cooling pups below 33.5 degrees does not provide additional neuroprotection. Furthermore, intermediate durations of therapeutic hypothermia (~5h) resulted in better neuroprotection than 3 hours in rat pups, but no differences were noted between pups subjected to longer treatment varying from 5 hours to 10 hours of

hypothermia (120). Hypothermia provides its therapeutic effects by upregulating cellular acetylation and suppressing acetyl-CoA, which usually participates in glycolysis, amino-acid catabolism, and ketolysis (121). It additionally reduces the activation of the caspase-3 enzyme, microglia, and NMDA receptors alongside the conservation of membranes integrity (122,123). However, in cases of seizure onset, TH is less effective, since they are a sign of secondary deterioration (124). Additionally, some studies showed that seizures continue to re-occur after the treatment (125). Despite being the first line of action, TH alone is not enough, as 40- 50% of neonates who underwent the treatment develop later neurological complications (104). In fact, therapeutic properties of hypothermia are mostly observable in cases of minor to moderate HIEs whose patients return to normal within 10 days; however, infants suffering from more severe cases of HIE present echo-free space 2 to 3 months' post-ischemia with higher mortality rates (126). This is why an adjuvant for the current treatment is required (127).

ii. Erythropoietin (EPO)

This glycoprotein is synthesized in the fetal liver, and both the liver and kidneys in neonates. Additionally, to its role in erythropoiesis, it has anti-inflammatory, angiogenesis, and neurogenesis properties, particularly that it is being secreted from fetal life (128). A variety of brain cells, as neuronal progenitors, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and microglia produce EPO receptors. Hypoxic ischemia results in the activation of EPO signal and EPO receptors in the cerebrospinal fluid (129). EPOreceptor complex limits inflammation and apoptosis (130). In animal studies, the combination of EPO with hypothermia resulted in a lower mortality rate and a reduced cerebral palsy development, while hypothermic treatment on its own did not improve the development of cerebral palsy in comparison to the group treated with saline solution (131). In mice, EPO was shown to heal sensorimotor functions (132). In humans, EPO decreases as well death rates and reduces basal ganglia lesion in MRI in neonates. It is as well correlated with lower rates of moderate to severe neurodevelopmental disability at 22 months old (133). EPO is a safe and non-toxic treatment adjuvant; however, its precise usage dose is yet to be determined. Some literature states 1000U/kg in the serum to be the optimal concentration for neuroprotection, but further investigations are required (134).

b. Alternative and investigational approaches

Despite the established first-line treatments, it is important to note the important gap between developed and developing countries regarding their availability and the means to provide patients with suitable medical interventions (28). For example, therapeutic cooling is not available in some hospitals (28). This is why alternative treatment strategies that do not require much equipment ought to be further investigated to alleviate the HIE burden and outcomes.

i. Ischemic conditioning

Ischemic conditioning can ensure protection against a lethal ischemic event by putting into action an adaptive process of endogenous protection. This is achieved by inducing sublethal ischemic events. A form of this conditioning is remote ischemic post-conditioning RIPC, where the sub-lethal ischemia is induced at the limb. Ischemic conditioning can be performed remotely from the ischemic targeted organ by putting a cuff on the limb arm or leg that is repeatedly inflated and deflated (135-137). This constitutes a safe and simple means of protection for distant organs such as the brain,

heart, and kidney. This process is observed in tumor growth, where intermittent hypoxia seems to increase tumors resistance to major ischemic events and therapies (138). Previous studies demonstrated that the conditioned sub-lethal ischemia can be applied before the onset of the lethal ischemic event (pre-conditioning), during it, and ahead of reperfusion (per-conditioning), or after the hypoxic episode throughout reperfusion (post-conditioning). However, combining per- and postconditioning significantly increased the neuroprotective outcomes of the treatment (139-141).

The neuroprotective effects of this treatment lie behind its neurochemical basis. Circulating humoral protective factors released after nerve stimulation and limb ischemia play a key role in protecting against ischemic damages. RIPC can reduce hypoxic morbidities by altering mRNA expression that in turn regulate a variety of cellular activities, protein expression, reduces oxidative stress and apoptosis (25,141-146). Moreover, pre-conditioning leads to an early astrocyte differentiation as part of glial cell adaptation playing a key role in neuroprotection (147). Both neonatal and adult brain infarct sizes are reduced by RIPC in animal models and humans (148-150). It is as well accompanied by an important neurological outcome improvement (146,151). Implementing RIPC with TH could help further reduce brain damages and alleviate their detrimental long-term consequence.

ii. Isoflurane

Isoflurane, a volatile anesthetic, can be used as a substitute for ischemic conditioning in adults and neonates (152,153). Neurological damages resulting from a cardiac arrest can be alleviated by isoflurane post- conditioning (154). Isoflurane mostly reduces spatial and memory deficits while barely showing effects on motor functions (155).

iii. Melatonin

Melatonin, synthesized in the pineal gland, has been shown to increase neuroprotection through its antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and anti-apoptotic properties (156). It can reach various brain regions through its ability to cross physiological barriers and freely diffuse among tissues. By increasing ATP, it regulates apoptosis. Furthermore, melatonin eliminates free radicals by producing antioxidant enzymes. Infants treated with birth hypothermia and melatonin have been shown to have better EEG profiles, fewer white matter abnormalities, better survival, and enhanced neuroprotection in comparison with those only treated with hypothermia at 6 months according to Denver Developmental Screening Test II (157). However, optimal dosage and timing are yet to be determined.

iv. Allopurinol

Allopurinol, and its metabolite oxypurinol, inhibit superoxide radicals by downregulating oxidase enzymes activated during reperfusion (158). Anti-inflammatory properties manifest by reducing neutrophils accumulation. Additionally, it reduces hydroxyl radicals, chelates metal ions, and lowers NO serum concentration (159). Animal studies have proved its neuroprotective effects in rats and revealed that late (24h after ischemia) and reduced doses fail to protect the brain from neuronal damage (160). In moderate cases of hypoxia, survival rates significantly improved at 4-8 years without affecting the Wechsler Preschool and Primary Scales of Intelligence test or the Wechsler Intelligence Scale in the long term (161).

v. Magnesium sulfate

Magnesium sulfate (MgSO4) can be used as an adjuvant neuroprotective treatment or alone. Its mechanism of action is yet to be further investigated; however, it acts mainly by preventing calcium influx into the cell through a voltage-dependent inhibition of NMDA glutamate receptors (162). Furthermore, secondary inflammation damages are inhibited by the stabilization of the cell membrane and by a reduction of free radicals' formation (163). It accelerates as well the differentiation of oligodendrocytes precursor cells into oligodendrocytes, protecting them from hypoxic damages, thus providing white matter protection (164). Its neuroprotective effects do not apply to differentiated oligodendrocytes, this is why MgSO4 is only prescribed in cases of preterm birth risks and has been shown to lower the risks of cerebral palsy (165). Some studies demonstrated that its combination with hypothermia showed no significant differences between the two treatment groups, while in others increased mortality caused by systemic hypotension was recorded, without being statistically significant (166). Further studies are yet needed to investigate all of the MgSO4 side effects.

vi. Ketogenic diet

HIF-1 α results in a glycolysis by-product accumulation (pyruvate converted into butyric acid) lowering the intraneuronal pH. This diet aiming to reduce glucose intake might downregulate the pathways activated by HIF-1 α , and enhance substrate conversion in acyl-CoA through beta-oxidation (73). Thus, a ketogenic diet might be beneficial for patients presenting drug-resistant epilepsy (167).

c. AED treatment: Anti-epileptic drug treatment

Clinical neonatal seizures are an emergency and treating them in infants following HIE has many concerns. The main aim of the treatment would be to lessen the seizure burden and reduce future neurodevelopment deficits. However, AED

treatments might exhibit possible risks outweighing their potential beneficial properties. AEDs have been associated with neurotoxicity, apoptosis, alteration of synaptogenesis and myelination, suppression of hyperexcitability, all interfering with normal neonatal brain development (168). Many first-generation AEDs potentially worsen epilepsy comorbidities as ADHD, depression, and anxiety (169). Phenobarbital (first generation AED) might exhibit adverse neuropsychiatric outcomes. Its detrimental effects are further accentuated in HI-infants that usually present disrupted renal functions, in comparison to normothermic ones (64). Second and third-generation AEDs have fewer adverse effects, yet they still contribute to possible adverse outcomes (169). Thus, close monitoring of patients is crucial, and choosing drugs targeting pathways common to both epilepsy and its associated comorbidities would result in the best therapeutic effects.

B. Later life psychiatric sequelae of hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy (HIE)

1. Comorbidities in epilepsy

Diverse comorbidities are encountered among children with prevalent epilepsy including mental health conditions, neurological and cognitive disorders (170). The relationship between epilepsy and its associated comorbidities is intricate, as one condition could lead to the other. On one hand, epilepsy might lead to anxiety disorder. On the other hand, depression might be a risk factor for epilepsy (Fig. 5 and 6) (171,172). Instead of considering a cause-effect relation, taking notice of common pathophysiological dysregulation in epilepsy and its associated morbidities might enable the treatment of both conditions using the same drug (169). Hippocrates had noted the bidirectional association between depression and epilepsy (173). In both adults and pediatric patients, psychiatric issues have been reported before the onset of seizures (171,174,175). Major depression is one of the comorbidities that are greatly encountered in people with refractory epilepsy (30 to 50%) (16). In those patients, depression is affecting their life quality more than epileptic episodes. What increases the burden, is that most of them are not screened for depression, which leads to high suicide rates. This depression is not simply due to the disease's social burden or pressure, but it is also caused by a dysfunction in the brain's normal pathways particularly in brain regions related to mood regulation. Individuals with uncontrolled epilepsy are associated with a 5 to 10 times higher prevalence risk of developing depression and suicide in comparison with the rest of the population. Yet, it is important to note the role of personality characteristics, like learned helplessness, in the development of depression while still taking into consideration the functional neuroimaging abnormalities related to depression (16).



Figure 5. Association between brain disorders, epilepsy and their comorbidities. Brain disorders can prompt epilepsy and other co-morbities. A bidirectional association exists between epilepsy and its comorbidities as one could lead to the other or exacerbate the pre-existing condition (169).



Figure 6. Schematic representation of the relationship between epilepsy and its associated co-morbidities. Children with epilepsy have a higher risk of developing cognitive deficits, autism, sleep disorder, depression and anxiety, migraine, ADHD, and vice versa. The external circle represents the association between all of the morbidities regardless of epilepsy (169).

2. Depression and behavioral problems following hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy

The long-term outcomes following neonatal encephalopathy (NE) should be approached by acknowledging the dynamism and the interactivity of development. Perinatal brain damages can alter gene expressions which in turn affects behavioral and cognitive dysregulations. Depression and anxiety are behavioral dysregulations highly comorbid with each other and with epilepsy (176). They are the most recorded psychiatric burdens in epilepsy (177-179).

a. Hypoxic ischemia and seizures' effects on the developing brain

The severity of the neonatal insult is a determining factor that dictates its detrimental outcomes. Children suffering from mild NE (neonatal encephalopathy), tend to develop more positive motor and cognitive outcomes making them comparable
to their peers (180). On the other hand, children with severe NE have higher mortality rates and exhibit more severe dysregulations, like cerebral palsy, mental retardation, and cortical visual or auditory impairment (181). Infants suffering from moderate NE exhibit heterogeneity as their school performance is somewhere between that of mild NE and severe NE. Moderate NE children that do not develop cerebral palsy score better but still perform less than those with mild NE and their healthy peers (182). A study showed that infants with moderate NE exhibit more anxious/depressed behaviors and attention problems, while children with mild NE have higher levels of thought problems (181). Additionally, high rates of infants with moderate and severe NE develop autism spectrum disorder (183). A study done by Handel et al. revealed impairment in working memory, verbal and visuospatial long-term memory, and global effect on intelligence in children suffering from NE aged 9 to 10. In those who have developed CP those problems were more pronounced (19). Brain lesions are of interest for the study of behavioral outcomes, as hippocampal volume is significantly reduced in cases of memory deficits and has been correlated with psychiatric disorders. This involves the possibility of developing schizophrenia following perinatal asphyxia, as well as autism (184). Hypoxic-seizure onset in HIE worsens behavioral outcomes. Epidemiological studies revealed that pediatric patients suffering from epilepsy have a risk of 21-60% to develop childhood psychopathologies, a risk at east 3- to 6-fold greater than the normal population (178,185). High rates of behavioral problems are observed in children with epilepsy or chronic conditions involving the central nervous system, in comparison with other children suffering from a chronic condition unrelated to the CNS (186). Up to 50% of children with chronic epilepsy present behavioral problems. Those behavioral changes are affected by the family's environment (187).

Epilepsy results in internalizing problems rather than externalizing them and pediatric depression does not necessarily manifest in sadness (188). Children tend to suffer from anxiousness, irritability, separation anxiety, loss of interest in activities, and suicidal ideation rather than acting out (188-190). Yet, anger and aggression can be observed as well (189,190). Attention problems are very common and can be marked by an academic decline (189,190). In addition to being a debilitating condition, depression can worsen seizure control and is associated with pharmacoresistant epilepsy leading to increased seizure severity, and slower recovery time (191,192). The disruption of molecular pathways contributes to the long-term effects of seizures in patients that manifest in behavioral perturbations.

b. Molecular aspect- serotonin and serotonin receptors

Treating depression in epilepsy has not been well investigated. Let alone the fact that the antidepressants, normally prescribed in the treatment of major depressive disorders, have been shown to worsen seizures, lower their threshold, and are minimally effective for the treatment of epilepsy-related depression (193). Additionally, the effects of depression on the quality of life of patients with epilepsy have been underestimated, thus the main concern of professionals was to attenuate seizures' severity and frequency (194). However, a strong correlation between depression and epilepsy can be established. In fact, limbic brain regions, such as the mesial temporal and prefrontal area, particularly participate in epileptogenesis, and they have a high density of serotonin receptors. Those brain regions coincide with the ones involved in the development of depression related to serotonin receptors density. In humans, visualization of the serotonin (5-HT) receptors, 5-HT1A receptors, via PET scan

(positron emission tomography) reveals a potential pathogenic role of 5-HT in depression and epilepsy (195,196). Some AEDs mechanism of action is as well mediated by increased 5-HT extracellular levels (197-199).

The differential gender manifestation of depression between males and females renders depression treatment in epilepsy even more challenging. Women are twice as likely to develop major depressive disorders (MDD) compared to men (200). One of the reasons for this contrast is sex-related dissimilarity in the brain serotonin system. Serotonin levels are 52% lower in adult females than in men. Moreover, females exhibit lower brain serotonin receptors binding and a higher expression of 5hydroxyindoleaceticacid, a serotonin metabolite, in the cerebrospinal fluid (200). Dopamine and norepinephrine levels vary as well between males and females rat models subjected to hypoxia (200). This dimorphism might explain the difference in responsiveness to treatments in rat models. Taking notice of alteration in neurotransmitters expression in the brain post-hypoxic-seizures might provide better insight into the possibility of treating depression in those patients (16).

c. Effects of hypoxia on the expression of neurotransmitters in the brain

Hypoxia has been shown to lower brain serotonin levels, leading to TRD (treatment-resistant depression) in patients with HIE, MDD, or chronic hypoxic disorder (200). Similarly, in rat models of hypobaric hypoxia, brain serotonin levels are decreased (forebrain and striatum and brainstem) leading to depression (200); however, acute hypoxia results in a whole-brain decrease of serotonin levels (34%) (200). This region-dependent synthesis alteration is not only restricted to serotonin, but it affects brain dopamine and norepinephrine levels as well (200). In fact, the rate-limiting

enzyme of dopamine synthesis (tyrosine hydroxylase TH), and the dopamine to norepinephrine conversion enzyme (dopamine- β -hydroxylase), require molecular oxygen. Housing rats under 10% oxygen for a week results in an increased expression of dopamine and norepinephrine in the frontal cortex, suggesting the involvement of the frontal cortex in mood regulation (200). Additionally, a study performed by Bromfield et al. revealed that higher depression rates are recorded in patients with hypometabolism in their inferior frontal region (201). Similarly, patients suffering from depression without neurological disorder also present the same pattern of hypometabolism (202).

d. The efficacy of antidepressants in the treatment of epilepsy-related depression

Perinatal asphyxia, followed by neonatal encephalopathy severely impairs short and long-term development in its survivors. Adolescent depression being prominent in these children, novel studies have been working on improving the preexisting antidepressive medications rather than targeting new pathways (194). The prescription of antidepressants for seizure patients has been highly controversial as their administration lowers seizures' threshold (203,204). Different clinical trials aiming to study the efficiency of antidepressants in epilepsy patients have been conducted. Newer generation antidepressants, particularly selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) and serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs), exhibit low seizure risks in patients with epilepsy (203,205,206). Second-generation antidepressants, except bupropion, hold an apparent anticonvulsant effect (207). The administration of fluoxetine and citalopram (SSRIs) to non-depressed adults with epilepsy reduces seizure frequency (208-210). In children and adolescents, SSRIs improved depression while worsening seizures in only 2 out of the 36 participants (211). Investigation of SSRIs

efficacy in children and adults with epilepsy revealed that this class of antidepressants does not increase seizure frequency (212). In a study done by Ojemann et al., doxepin (tricyclic antidepressant TCA) reduced seizures in about 79% of patients (15 out of 19), with around 10 % exhibiting an increase in seizures (2 out of 19) (213). A similar study showed that sertraline (SSRI) had increased seizures' severity in only 6% of patients (214). A study performed by Robertson and Trimple comparing the effects of amitriptyline (TCA), nomifesine (norepinephrine-dopamine reuptake inhibitor), and placebo in 42 patients suffering from depression and epilepsy showed that a 6 weeks treatment results in no significant difference among the different groups. An additional 6 weeks treatment duration revealed that patients being treated with nomifesine scored better in the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale, but not in Beck Depression Inventory (215). This treatment-resistant depression (TRD) is highly linked to suicidal behaviors in these patients (200).

e. <u>Selective Serotonin reuptake inhibitors are a safe option for depression treatment in</u> <u>pediatric patients</u>

SSRIs have been shown to have low side effects, low toxicity, and good tolerability by patients, thus their prescription to treat depression in children with epilepsy is safe (216) (200). SSRIs function by blocking serotonin transporter. This leads to an increase in the synaptic serotonin levels, by inhibiting its reuptake (Fig. 7). However, this mechanism of action implies that SSRIs are efficient as long as serotonin levels are moderate to high enough, and those medications might lose their antidepressant properties with low serotonin levels. In fact, mice with low brain serotonin (low levels of tryptophane hydroxylase) exhibit higher depressive-like behaviors in FST compared with mice having normal serotonin levels, both groups being treated with citalopram or paroxetine (200). However, it is important to note that SSRIs are characterized by different pharmacological profiles, exhibiting different binding affinities to SERT and other monoamine transporters (200). This might alter the efficacy of different SSRIs. Escitalopram (SSRI) binds to SERT with a higher specificity than to the dopamine transporter (DAT) or the norepinephrine transporter (NET), yet it does not improve depressive-like behaviors in rats (200). Similarly, fluoxetine (SSRI) exhibits specificity to serotonin transporters but a minimal action on DAT and NET. As well it does not cause any significant improvement regarding the DLB. Paroxetine (SSRI) and sertraline (SSRI) are characterized with the highest affinity to serotonin transporters and increase swimming in rat models of hypobaric hypoxia (200). However, only sertraline was shown to significantly improve DLB in this rat model. The improvement observed with sertraline lies behind its mechanism of action: in addition to improving the serotonergic transmission, sertraline blocks DAT (200). This blockade of dopamine reuptake alongside that of serotonin might be responsible for the antidepressant properties observed in hypobaric hypoxia models (200). This observation indicates that antidepressants targeting both serotonin transporters and DAT result in better outcomes compared to those only targeting serotonin transporters (200). In addition to alleviating depression, SSRIs inhibit both focal and generalized seizures by increasing extracellular serotonin levels (217,218).



Figure 7. SSRIs mechanism of action. SSRIs block the reuptake of serotonin by binding to the presynaptic serotonin channels resulting in increased extracellular serotonin levels (219).

On another hand, SSRIs might also result in a hypo-dopaminergic state (200). Clinical manifestation of extrapyramidal movement disorder, sexual dysfunction, and mental disorders appear with the use of SSRIs. Those symptoms are alleviated by dopaminergic agonists (196). Thus, a possible explanation for the TRD with the use of fluoxetine, paroxetine, and escitalopram might be the hypo-dopaminergic state resulting from these SSRIs. Not only does it fail to treat depression, but those SSRIs might as well worsen depression by failing to increase serotonergic transmission, alongside their detrimental effects on brain dopamine levels. In fact, SSRIs have been used to treat the increased dopaminergic tones in patients suffering from obsessive-compulsive disorders (OCD) (200). Parkinson's patients also seem to exhibit worse motor symptoms after SSRIs treatment (200). However, sertraline presents lower side effects in comparison to the rest of the SSRIs. Secondary effects such as hypodopaminergic state, increased

plasma prolactin, sexual disorders, and cognitive decline are lower with sertraline in contrast with escitalopram and paroxetine (200). Additionally, in patients with Parkinson's, sertraline has no deleterious effect on the motor system and provides better antidepressant qualities (200). In rats, it can enhance swimming and climbing in FST (200). By improving brain dopaminergic levels, sertraline can thus be considered as one of the safest options of SSRIs to be prescribed for the treatment of depression resulting from hypoxia. Sertraline's effect might be mediated as well by the regulation of certain cellular pathways as the BDNF-TrkB pathway which is involved in depression.

f. BDNF-TrkB pathway involvement in depression and anxiety

Depression and anxiety have different etiologies, but the current behavioral assays do not effectively distinguish them from each other. Behavioral despair and the inability of experiencing pleasure (anhedonia) characterizing depression are controlled by two distinct systems respectively: the brain stress system (hippocampus and hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenocortical HPA axis/ hippocampus-HPA pathway) playing a role in learning and memory and the brain reward system (ventral tegmental area-nucleus accumbens VTA-NAc and VTA-prefrontal cortex pathways) in which the dopaminergic transmission plays an important role in reward and motivation (Fig. 8 and 9).

It seems that BDNF exhibits opposing effects on these 2 systems as an intrahippocampal infusion of BDNF is accompanied by antidepressant effects while it elicits a pro-depressive role in the VTA-NAc reward system (220). Targeting the BDNF-TrkB pathway has been proposed as a possible treatment strategy to alleviate mental outcomes resulting from epilepsy.







Figure 9. The reward system in humans and rats. The mesolimbic dopamine pathway consists of projections from the ventral tegmental (VTA) area to the nucleus accumbens (NAc) while the mesocortical dopamine pathway consists of projection from VTA to the prefrontal cortex. This system plays a major role in motivation and pleasure. PFC, prefrontal cortex, NAc, nucleus accumbens, VTA, ventral tegmental area (222).

The neurotrophin hypothesis of depression is based on the correlation between antidepressant treatments and the regulation of BDNF. BDNF-TrkB pathways have been shown to take part in the antidepressant effects. The BDNF precursor proBDNF and the BDNF mature form mBDNF can exhibit opposite effects on cellular functions, long-term potentiation (LTP), and long-term depression (LTD), contributing to the dichotomy of BDNF actions on the brain stress and reward axes (hippocampus-HPA pathway and VTA-NAc and VTA-prefrontal cortex pathways). BDNF is being recognized as an important regulator of LTP (long-term potentiation) in the hippocampus. Antidepressants result in the enhancement of hippocampal LTP by promoting mBDNF-TrkB expression. Furthermore, fluoxetine (SSRI) fails to reverse the anxious-like behaviors in BDNFmet/met mice (223). This highlights that the antidepressive effect of SSRI is mediated by BDNF-TrkB signaling. Additionally, LTD (long-term depression) has been suggested to play a role in depressive-like behaviors since acute stress might induce LTD in the hippocampus, in which LTD is not normally present. A decrease in hippocampal BDNF levels is correlated with stress-induced depressive behaviors and some antidepressants upregulate the expression of BDNF by selectively acting on some of the promoters driving BDNF transcription. Nonetheless, a chronic administration of antidepressants is required for the enhancement of gene expression of both Trk-B and BDNF. On the other hand, the acute use of antidepressants is thought to act by increasing the secretion of BDNF without gene regulation (224). In fact, acute treatment improves FST outcome, while it takes around 21 days (chronic treatment) for BDNF and Ntrk2 mRNA to be upregulated (224). Furthermore, the effects of antidepressants can be observed in postmortem brain tissues where levels of BDNF are lower in patients who have suffered depression but higher in those who were taking antidepressants (225). Depressed patients have a reduced BDNF expression in the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex, yet exhibit an increased BDNF level in the NAc (226-229). However, most studies investigate the levels of total BDNF mRNA or protein without distinguishing its 2 transcripts. Therefore, it remains unclear which of proBDNF or mBDNF is the main mediator of depressive and antidepressive responses. Furthermore, BDNF over-expression might trigger cell death in in-vitro cultured cortical neurons. This necrosis can be reversed by inhibiting TrkB pathways. Additionally, treatment-resistant depression is associated with a higher expression of BDNF in the VTA-NAc pathway, suggesting possible treatment using BDNF-TrkB antagonists (Fig. 10) (230). However, BDNF and its receptors have an important trophic role (40). In BDNF knockout and TrkB-T1 transgenic mice, antidepressant treatment loses its efficacy in the FST where it no longer reduces

immobility time (224). Thus, maintaining homeostatic activation is crucial for normal development and optimal treatment outcomes.



Figure 10. Schematic representation of bdnf-trkb regulation in depression. In preclinical studies, inflammation downregulates BDNF in the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex but upregulates it in the NAc leading to depressive-like behaviors in rodents. For such a phenotype, TrkB agonists and antidepressants, as SSRIs and SNRIs, could effectively treat depression. Nonetheless, treatment resistant depression is correlated with a and increased BDNF expression in the VTA-NAc pathway. In this case, TrkB antagonists are better treatment option (231).

3. Hippocampal and prefrontal cortex's contribution to cognitive and emotional

regulation

a. The Hippocampus

The hippocampus is a component of the limbic system that plays a critical role in the association and processing of various information crucial for daily life functions (Fig. 11). It is a bilateral structure located within the anterior part of the medial temporal lobe, present in humans and other mammals. Each hippocampus can be divided into 3 anatomical areas: the cornu ammonis (CA1-CA3), the dentate gyrus, and the subiculum (232). A hippocampal cross-section reveals several molecular layers (called strata) from the outer in as follows: stratum lacunosum-moleculare, stratum radiatum, stratum lucidum, stratum pyramidale, and stratum oriens. The hippocampus is a highly connected structure exhibiting abundant interconnectivity with different cortical and subcortical regions (233,234). A variety of behavioral and cognitive processes are regulated by the hippocampus including, but not limited to, memory, spatial navigation, emotional processing, stress regulation, and decision making (235). Sensory information of the surrounding environment is incorporated by the hippocampus into configurational neural representations (236). The ventral hippocampus in rodents, corresponding to the anterior part in humans, acquaints for coarse global representation. On the other hand, the dorsal hippocampus, corresponding to the posterior hippocampus in humans, is in charge of fine-grained, local representation (237,238).

Given that the creation of stable associations requires Hebbian plasticity between neurons (LTP and LTD), it has been suggested that the hippocampus generates interconnected maps of physical and mental space (239,240). Furthermore, growing evidence has been emphasizing hippocampal role in pattern separation and approachavoidance conflict processing in anxiety-provoking situations (241,242). All of these functions require interconnectivity with other brain structures including the limbic system and the prefrontal cortex (Fig. 11).



Figure 11. Parts of the limbic system and reward system in humans and rats. The colored regions represent the limbic system that controls innate behaviors. Projections form the reward circuit to the limbic system control learned and intentional behaviors. BNST, bed nucleus of stria terminalis; Hipp, hippocampus; Hypo, hypothalamus; MB, mamillary bodies; PAG, periaqueductal gray; NuAc, nucleus accumbens; VTA, ventral tegmental area; MOB, main olfactory bulbs; AOB, accessory olfactory bulbs (rat only) (222).

b. The prefrontal cortex

The prefrontal cortex PFC, in contrast to the hippocampus, is a more phylogenetically evolved structure. It is mostly developed in primates, particularly humans, and is crucial for emotional regulation and higher-order cognitive processes. In primates, the PFC can be divided into distinct anatomical and functional regions: a dorsolateral division and a ventromedial division. The dorsolateral division is responsible for cognitive functions as executive control, attention, and working memory. In contrast, the ventromedial (or orbitomedial) structure acquaints for emotional and motivational regulation (243,244). In rodents, the PFC can be divided into medial, lateral, and ventral subdivisions, each of which in turn consists of several subregions (245). The medial PFC (mPFC) is associated with cognitive function as working memory, attentional shifting, and the regulation of emotional responses (246-248). The dorsal rodent mPFC, corresponding to the dorsolateral primate PFC, is responsible for cognitive function, in contrast to the ventral rodent mPFC, corresponding to the ventral primate mPFC, that is involved in emotional behaviors (245,249-252). These functions require a linkage with various brain regions including the hippocampus.

c. <u>Hippocampal and prefrontal cortex interconnections</u>

The PFC and the hippocampus are linked via several direct and indirect pathways (Fig. 12). The hippocampus, most importantly the ventral hippocampus (vHPC), sends output excitatory glutaminergic projections to the PFC, primarily to the mPFC, in both rodents and primates (250,251,253-255). In mice, monosynaptic projections originate from the anterior cingulate (AC) portion of the mPFC and terminate in the CA1 and CA3 regions of the dorsal hippocampus dHPC. In addition to these monosynaptic projections, indirect bidirectional connections exist between the PFC and the hippocampus via relay structures like the nucleus reuniens (NR) of the thalamus (Fig. 12) (246,256).



Figure 12. Direct and indirect connections between the prefrontal cortex (**PFC**) **and hippocampus and their functional roles.** Schematic of the direct and some of the indirect connections between the hippocampus and PFC. Arrows indicate direction of the projections. AC, anterior cingulate cortex; dHPC, dorsal hippocampus; IL, infralimbic cortex; mPFC, medial prefrontal cortex; NR, nucleus reuniens; PL, prelimbic cortex; vHPC, ventral hippocampus (257).

4. Synaptic plasticity involvement in cognitive and behavioral regulation

In response to perturbations, neuronal excitability is maintained at a relatively stable level via compensatory changes in synaptic plasticity. This modification in synaptic plasticity is of crucial importance, particularly during the developmental and learning-related changes, as it stabilizes neuronal firing and prevents abnormal neuronal activity (258). A good indicator of neuronal synaptic plasticity is synaptophysin. This calcium-binding integral membrane glycoprotein is the most abundant molecule in the neuronal synaptic regions (259,260). Synaptophysin plays a key role in the regulation of the synaptic vesicles cycle rather than directly influencing the release of neurotransmitters (260). This is done by ensuring effective retrieval and trafficking of synaptobrevin-II (SybII) that plays an essential role in vesicles docking and exocytosis at the presynaptic membrane level (260). The regulation of the synaptic vesicles cycle is particularly important in the early developing brain in which neuronal circuits undergo intense activity (260). A dysregulated expression of synaptophysin is observed in a variety of mental and central nervous system disorders. Synaptophysin is downregulated in patients suffering from bipolar disorder and in the hippocampi of Alzheimer's patients (261). Furthermore, mutations in SYP encoding genes have been recorded in patients presenting intellectual difficulties with or without any associated epilepsy (262). Synaptophysin homeostasis is thus crucial to maintain an equilibrium between excitation and inhibition ensuring a regulated neuronal circuitry activation.

C. Animal models for depression and hypoxic seizure studies

1. The Hypoxic Seizure model: model selection and hypoxia induction

Hypoxia can be induced at different stages: intrauterine, perinatal, and neonatal hypoxia models have been described (263). Hypoxia ischemia can be achieved in sheep through maternal hypoxia, or through the occlusion of the fetal umbilical cord, but the high cost of these animal models and their large size make this protocol inconvenient (264).

In the neonatal rat brain, HIE can be induced through the ligation of one common carotid artery, followed by systemic hypoxia. The latter is achieved by a reduction of the ambient oxygen to 8% using nitrogen. It is of great value to note that postnatal day 7 rat brains are phenotypically similar to that of the human fetus in its 3rd trimester (265). This age falls into a developmental period of enhanced excitability and synaptic plasticity similar to that observed in the human neonatal period between 32-40 gestational weeks (266).

In our laboratory, hypoxic seizure Sprague Dawley rat models are obtained by putting P9 or P10 pups in an airtight chamber, in which oxygen concentration will be gradually decreased, through N2 gas infusion, from 20.9 % (ambient) to 7% for 8 min, then 5% for 6 min, to finally reach 4% for 1 min. This hypoxia induction lasts for a total of 15 min, and allows the induction of tonic-clonic seizures in P10 pups. Such a hypoxic model does not result in morphological brain damages in the prefrontal cortex, limbic structures, and does not trigger seizure reoccurrence. This allows the study of less severe cases of hypoxia. Within the absence of anatomical changes, the behavioral outcome observed could be caused by synaptic reorganization involving downstream pathways dysregulation, as TrkB (49). A similar HS model revealed the absence of cell

death; however, the persisting increase in excitability in the adult hippocampus suggests that permanent alterations in hippocampal synaptic plasticity mediate the epileptogenic effect of hypoxia (266).

2. Emotional Behavior Testing: Depressive-like Behaviors

A variety of tests can be adapted to assess emotional behavioral disturbance in pups and to validate the efficacy of novel therapies in achieving neuroprotection after brain insults. A previous study done by our team investigating the effects of CEP-701 on cognitive and behavioral outcomes in immature rats revealed that the most efficient test in assessing behavioral changes was the forced swim test (FST) and the open field test (OFT). The FST allows the assessment of depressive-like behaviors by measuring the immobility percentages. The OFT helps to assess anxiety-like behaviors, in addition to exploratory behaviors and hyperactivity by measuring the time spent and distance traveled in different field areas with the different objects presented to the rat. One test alone is not sufficient, as it might be misleading, anxiety might manifest as hyperactivity which in turn will affect the FST outcomes. Thus, an OFT is crucial to distinguish hyper-active from non-hyperactive behaviors (49).

CHAPTER II

AIMS AND HYPOTHESIS

Aim 1: To investigate the long-term effect of early-life hypoxic seizures (HS) on depression and anxiety-like behaviors in peri-adolescent rats.

Hypothesis 1: Rats that undergo early-life hypoxic seizures will have increased depression and anxiety-like behaviors in peri-adolescence age.

Aim 2: To investigate whether HS-induced depressive-like behaviors are reversed by Sertraline (Zoloft), a clinically employed standard anti-depressive medication.

Hypothesis 2: HS-induced depressive-like behaviors will be reversed by Sertraline.

Aim 3: To determine neuronal cell loss post hypoxic seizures.

Hypothesis 3: Rats that undergo hypoxic seizures will not present neuronal cell loss despite behavioral changes.

Aim 4: To investigate whether hypoxic seizures result in synaptic plasticity alterations.

Hypothesis 4: Rats that undergo hypoxic seizures will manifest a maladaptive alteration in synaptic plasticity markers.

CHAPTER III

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A. Animals and experimental design

The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) at the American University of Beirut approved all experiments. Eighty male Sprague Dawley rats housed in a temperature-controlled room and maintained on a 12-hour light-dark cycle with permanent access to food and water were used in this study. Rats were subjected to hypoxia at postnatal 10 (P10) or sham-treated under normoxic conditions. Rats were then divided into 4 groups: the NV group (normoxic with vehicle, n=18), the HV group (hypoxic seizure with vehicle, n=17), the NSERT group (normoxic with sertraline, n=19), and the HSERT group (hypoxic seizure with sertraline, n=19). Following hypoxic seizures induction only pups having 6 or more tonic-clonic seizures were included in the study. Rats were then administered sertraline via drinking water at a dose of 5 mg/kg/day from P24 till P30 and subjected to a battery of behavioral testing panels (Fig. 13), then sacrificed at postnatal day 30 (P30) for histological analyses, including hippocampal pyramidal neuronal density and hippocampal protein levels of markers of synaptic plasticity, synaptophysin (SYP).



Figure 13. Experimental design of the project. Hypoxic seizures were induced in postnatal day 10 (P10) rat pups while the rest remained under normoxic conditions. Then, the rats were assigned to 4 groups by administering sertraline via drinking water: HSERT (hypoxic seizure with sertraline, n=19), HV (hypoxic seizure with vehicle, n=17), NSERT (normoxic with sertraline, n=19), and NV (normoxic with vehicle, n=18). Depressive-like and anxiety-like behaviors were then investigated in the forced swim test (P25-26) and the open field test (P27), sequentially. Rats were sacrificed at P30. Potential neuronal damage and alteration in synaptic plasticity were assessed through immunohistochemistry via Neu-N and synaptophysin staining, respectively. NV group (normoxic with vehicle, n=18), HV group (hypoxic seizure with vehicle, n=17), NSERT group (normoxic with sertraline, n=19), HSERT group (hypoxic seizure with sertraline, n=19).

B. Hypoxia induction and inclusion criteria

To induce HS, P10 male Sprague Dawley (SD) rats, placed on a heating pad regulated at a temperature of 34°C, were exposed to 15 min of graded global hypoxia in an airtight chamber into which nitrogen (N2) was rapidly infused. The oxygen concentration was maintained at 7% for 8 minutes, 5% for 6 minutes, and 4% for 1 minute. Hypoxia induced myoclonic jerks, followed by tonic-clonic head and limb movements. The total number of tonic-clonic movements during hypoxia were recorded for each pup. Only animals that had 6 or more tonic-clonic seizures were included in the study.

C. Sertraline administration

Sertraline (SERT) (Pfizer, AUBMC pharmacy) 50 mg tablet was crushed and diluted in water. SERT was administered orally at a dose of 5.0 mg/kg/day in the animals' drinking water, starting P24 and continuing until the end of experiments (P30). The SERT solution was prepared using drinking water as a vehicle. Liquid consumption was controlled (with calibrated bottles) and monitored every day from P22 till P30. Weight was monitored starting the weaning day (from P21 till P30). The drug administration was adjusted based on liquid consumption and animal weight. Freshly prepared solutions were provided. Normal drinking water was given to control animals. During this period, the rats were kept in groups of 2 to 3 animals with unrestricted access to food.

D. Behavioral testing

Rats belonging to the 4 groups described above were weaned and separated from their mother at P21 followed by behavioral testing 4 days after, during which the animals were handled several times. To assess the cognitive and emotional behavioral derangements at the peri-adolescent age (P24-P45), rats of all treatment groups were subjected to behavioral panels including the forced swim test (FST) and the open field test (OFT). The order of the test was selected as previously mentioned so none of the tests' outcomes interferes with the other.

1. Forced swim test for the assessment of depressive-like behaviors

Rats were individually placed in a transparent cylinder (50 cm in height, 20 cm in diameter) filled with water reaching a 30 cm height (Fig. 14). The water temperature was regulated at 25-27 °C and was changed between animals. The FST consists of two 10-minute sessions 24 hours apart. Immobility behavior was measured to assess depressive-like behaviors and is defined as the state where the animals are making only minimal limbs movements required to stay afloat. High activity levels were measured as well to assess struggling and are defined as the state where all four limbs are in motions with the front feet breaking through the surface of the water. The duration (P25-P26) rats spent immobile was measured using an automated feature, the smart software version 3 (Panlab/Harvard Apparatus) which tracks the global activity of tested animals. At the end of each test, the water in the cylinders was changed and rats were allowed to dry under a heat lamp in a cage covered with an absorbent towel for 10 min.



Figure 14. Forced swim test experimental setup. Rats were placed in 3 plexiglass cylinders filled with 30 cm depth of water. The experiment was video recorded.

2. Open filed test for the assessment of anxiety-like behaviors

The OFT was conducted over three sessions, five minutes each, performed over one day using an opaque plexiglass square field (W 80 cm, L 80 cm, H 40 cm) (Fig. 15). On the first testing session, a single small object (cube), was placed in the middle of the field's floor, then on each of the two subsequent sessions, a new object was added (a small ball, then a small bottle). Rats were placed individually in the nearest corner to the most recently added novel object on a given session. The floor surfaces and walls of the apparatus were cleaned with unscented detergent then a 70% alcohol solution between animals. The rats' movements were video-recorded then analyzed using SMART video tracking 3.0 software (Panlab, Harvard apparatus, USA).



Figure 15. Open field zones. This picture represents all 3 objects put during the 3rd testing session. The central zone contains all the objects. The internal zone includes all the area within the green square (it includes the central zone). The peripheral zone is only restricted to the area present between the red and green squares.

E. Euthanasia and cardiac perfusion

To perform various microscopic examinations on brain slices, brains were

perfused with 4% depolymerized paraformaldehyde (PFA) in phosphate-buffered saline

(PBS) (pH=7.4). The procedure starts with general anesthesia with an intramuscularly administered mixture of ketamine (80 mg/kg), xylazine (10 mg/kg). Once anesthesia is achieved (unresponsiveness to noxious stimuli), the animal was placed on its back. Pins were used to restrain the limbs and to prevent accidental or fluid-induced shifting during the procedure. An incision in the abdomen was made just below the diaphragm. The diaphragm was then removed to access the rib cage. Two vertical cuts were made along the sides of the rib cage, allowing it to be lifted, exposing the heart. A needle was then inserted into the left ventricle and PBS (1X) solution was pumped slowly into the animal. Immediately after insertion of the needle in the left ventricle and just before starting the pump, the right atrium was cut open to allow fluid to drain. Once all the blood has been flushed from the animal, the brain was fixed by PFA. Brains were collected and stored in PFA for 48 hours, then put in a 30% sucrose solution at 4 degrees till they sank (around 1 week) before paraffin embedding. Coronal sections of 8 μm in thickness were obtained for histological and immunohistochemistry analyses, namely hippocampal and prefrontal cortex neuronal density quantification and Syp staining.

F. Histological study and analysis

Coronal sections of 8 µm in thickness were obtained for histological and immunohistochemical analyses. Sections were selected by visual inspection to match the structural pattern of hippocampal coronal sections located 1.9-2.8 mm posterior to the Bregma and prefrontal section located 3.6 to 4.6 mm anterior to the Bregma of P21 rats in the Stereotaxic Atlas of the Developing Rat Brain. This histological landmark was chosen based on the involvement of the prefrontal cortex in mood regulation and

the role of the hippocampus in pattern separation especially in anxiety-provoking situations (242).

1. Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry was performed on brain sections of a sample of 1-2 rats from each group. Slides were first deparaffinized with xylene and rehydrated through a series of descending grades of alcohol solutions. Slides were incubated for 60 minutes in 90 °C sodium citrate buffer (10 mM, pH = 6) for antigen retrieval and then treated for five min at room temperature with 3% H2O2 to neutralize endogenous peroxidase. Slides were incubated overnight at 4 °C with primary antibody solutions of the following antibodies: anti-NeuN (MAB377; dilution 1:100, Millipore), and anti-Syp (sc-12737; dilution 1:500, Santa Cruz Biotechnology). Sections were then incubated with peroxidase-conjugated anti-mouse secondary antibody for one hour at room temperature (Leica Biosystems, UK). Immunohistochemical staining was visualized under the light microscope following the application of 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) and hematoxylin counterstaining. The average neuronal density and the optical density of Syp stained sections were visually inspected by an investigator blinded to treatment groups.

2. Image analyses

Immunostained brain sections were imaged using the uSCOPE (uScope MXII, USA) machine. Rats' hippocampi were divided for histological analyses into 3 areas of interest each. The CA1-subiculum and CA2-CA3 areas were determined by extending an imaginary line from the tip of the dentate gyrus to the distal border of the

hippocampus passing through the tip of the dentate inner blade. The dentate hilar zone border was determined by a line extending from the tip of the inner blade to the outer blade's border (Fig. 16). For prefrontal sections, the anterior cingulate, prelimbic, and infralimbic cortices were selected for analysis (Fig. 17). NeuN positive cells number and SYP optical density were assessed visually (3 sections per brain, 1 brain pe group) by an investigator blinded to treatment groups.



Figure 16. Hippocampal areas division for analyses. Rat's dorsal hippocampus was divided into three areas of interest: CA1-subiculum (blue), CA2-CA3 (green), and dentate hilar zone (purple) to analyze for potential neuronal loss with NeuN staining and alterations in hippocampal synaptic plasticity with Syp staining.



Figure 17. Prefrontal cortex areas division for analysis. Rat's prefrontal cortex was divided into three areas of interest: infralimbic (IL), prelimbic (PL), and anterior cingulate cortex (AC) to analyze for potential neuronal loss with NeuN staining, and alterations in hippocampal synaptic plasticity with SYP staining.

G. Statistical analyses

All data analyses were performed using Prism 8 (GraphPad Software, USA). Animals were randomized to treatment groups before seizure induction or any data analysis. Unless otherwise stated, data are presented in graphs as mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM). The FST was analyzed using two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with repeated measures followed by post hoc Fisher least significant difference (LSD) test, whereas OFT data were analyzed using a one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher LSD test. A p-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

A. Acute hypoxic seizures count

Among the rats that underwent hypoxia, only the ones having 6 seizures, or more, were selected for the study. Hypoxic rats were divided into two treatment groups: one drinking vehicle water, HV, and the second one drinking water with sertraline, HSERT. A comparable number of seizures was recorded between the two groups (Fig. 18). Weights and water consumption were comparable between all rats on all days after weaning (p>0.05) (Fig. 19 and 20).



Figure 18. The acute number of seizures recorded in hypoxic rats. Unpaired t-test revealed a comparable seizure number between the two groups subjected to hypoxia (p>0.05). HV group (hypoxic seizure with vehicle, n=17), HSERT group (hypoxic seizure with sertraline, n=19).



Figure 19. Weight monitoring after weaning. Two-way repeated-measures ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) revealed that all groups had a significant increase in weight from P21 to P30 (p<0.05) with comparable weights between all treatment groups from P21 to P30 (p>0.05, two-way repeated-measures ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). NV group (normoxic with vehicle, n=18), HV group (hypoxic seizure with vehicle, n=17), NSERT group (normoxic with sertraline, n=19), HSERT group (hypoxic seizure with sertraline, n=19).



Figure 20. Water consumption monitoring after weaning. Two-way repeatedmeasures ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) ANOVA revealed a comparable water consumption among all treatment groups from P22 to P30 (p> 0.05). NV group (normoxic with vehicle, n=18), HV group (hypoxic seizure with vehicle, n=17), NSERT group (normoxic with sertraline, n=19), HSERT group (hypoxic seizure with sertraline, n=19).

B. Forced Swim Test

Depressive-like behaviors following early life hypoxic brain insult were investigated by performing the FST at P25-26. An earlier increase in immobility percentage in rats is considered to reflect depressive-like behaviors. During the first testing day, the HV group exhibited a significantly higher immobility time when compared to the NV and HSERT groups, while HSERT rats' immobility time was comparable to that of NV and NSERT. Both NV and NSERT had comparable immobility times throughout the test. However, the HSERT high activity percentage was higher than that of the NSERT group. On the second testing day, the HV group immobility time was comparable to that of the NV group. Sertraline-treated groups, NSERT and HSERT, exhibited immobility time lower than that of the NV group. Furthermore, the HSERT groups had a higher high activity time when compared to both NV and HV groups. However, at the last testing minute, both the immobility and high activity time of all treatment groups were comparable (Fig. 21, 22, 23, and 24).



Figure 21. Immobility percentages during the first testing day of the forced swim test. Two-way repeated-measures ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) revealed that all treatment groups exhibit a significant increase in their immobility percentage from minute 1 to 10 (p<0.05, two-way repeated-measures ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). The behavior of the HV group diverged from its control group NV, with HV having a higher immobility percentage starting minute 2 that persists throughout the test and reaches a statistical significance at minute 5 (p<0.05, two-way repeated-measures ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). The immobility percentage of the HSERT group diverged from that of HV starting minute 2 and persists during the whole test with HSERT reaching a statistically significant lower immobility percentage at min 9 when compared to HV (p<0.05, two-way repeated-measures ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD) but comparable to that of NV and NSERT (p>0.05, two-way repeated-measures ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). On the last testing minute, the immobility time of all groups was comparable (p>0.05, two-way repeated-measures ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). NV group (normoxic with vehicle, n=18), HV group (hypoxic seizure with vehicle, n=17), NSERT group (normoxic with sertraline, n=19), HSERT group (hypoxic seizure with sertraline, n=19).



Figure 22. Immobility percentages during the second testing day of the forced swim test. Two-way repeated-measures ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) revealed that on the second testing day the HV group immobility percentage was comparable to that of the NV group (p>0.05). Additionally, the HV group had a higher immobility time in contrast to both HSERT and NSERT groups, reaching significance at minutes 5,6, and 7 (p<0.05, two-way repeated-measures ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). Both sertraline treated groups (NSERT and HSERT) presented similar immobility times (p>0.05, two-way repeated-measures ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD), with lower immobility percentages when compared to the NV group. A statistically significant lower immobility percentage was recorded in HSERT when compared to NV at minutes 6 and 9, and in NSERT when compared to NV at min 9 (p < 0.05, two-way repeated-measures ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). On the last testing minute, the immobility time of all groups was comparable (p>0.05, two-way repeated-measures ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). NV group (normoxic with vehicle, n=18), HV group (hypoxic seizure with vehicle, n=17), NSERT group (normoxic with sertraline, n=19), HSERT group (hypoxic seizure with sertraline, n=19).







Figure 24. High activity percentages during the second testing day of the forced swim test. During the second testing day, two-way repeated-measures ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) revealed that all groups had a significant decrease in their high activity from minute 1 till minute 10 (p<0.05). The HSERT group had a high activity time higher than that of NV and HV groups reaching significance at minute 5 (p<0.05, two-way repeated-measures ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). The NV, NSERT, and HV had a comparable high activity level during the whole test (p>0.05, two-way repeated-measures ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). NV group (normoxic with vehicle, n=18), HV group (hypoxic seizure with vehicle, n=17), NSERT group (normoxic with sertraline, n=19), HSERT group (hypoxic seizure with sertraline, n=19).

C. Open Field Test

The open-field test is widely used to assess hyperactivity, anxiety-like and exploratory behaviors via the measurement of the total distance traveled by the rat (level of hyperactivity), the time spent in different zones (anxious rat spend more time in the outer fields), and the exploratory behavior (time spent in the inner zone next to objects).

The total distance traveled by the HV group during all 3 sessions was significantly lower than that of the NV group (p<0.05). The HSERT group had a total distance traveled significantly lower than that of the NV group (p<0.05) but comparable to that of the HV (p>0.05). NSERT rats had a total distance traveled significantly lower than that of the HV (p>0.05). (Fig. 25).

The HV group spent a statistically significant higher time in the periphery with a statistically significant lower distance traveled when compared to the NV groups (p<0.05). The HSERT group spent significantly more time in the periphery when compared to NV, HV, and NSERT groups (p<0.05). The HSERT groups traveled a total distance in the periphery significantly lower than the NV group (p<0.05). Furthermore, the total time spent in the periphery by the NSERT group was significantly higher than that of the NV group (p>0.05), but the total distance traveled in the periphery by the NSERT group was comparable to that of both NV and HV groups (p>0.05) (Fig. 26).

The distance traveled in the center and the time spent in the center by both HV and HSERT groups was significantly lower than that of the NV (p<0.05). Furthermore, the time spent in the center by the HSERT group was significantly lower than that of the HV groups (p<0.05) with a total distance traveled in the center comparable to the HV group (p>0.05). The time and the distance traveled in the center by the NSERT group
were lower than that of NV (p<0.05) and comparable to that of the HV group (p>0.05) (Fig. 27).



Figure 25. Total distance traveled during all the 3 sessions by the different groups. One-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD revealed that the total distance traveled by the HV group during all 3 sessions was significantly lower than that of the NV group (p<0.05). The HSERT group had a total distance traveled significantly lower than that of the NV group (p<0.05, one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD) but comparable to that of the HV (p>0.05, one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). NSERT rats had a total distance traveled significantly lower than that of the NV group (p<0.05, one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). NSERT rats had a total distance traveled significantly lower than that of the NV group (p<0.05, one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD) but comparable to that of the HV(p>0.05, one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD) but comparable to that of the HV(p>0.05, one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). NV group (normoxic with vehicle, n=18), HV group (hypoxic seizure with vehicle, n=17), NSERT group (normoxic with sertraline, n=19), HSERT group (hypoxic seizure with sertraline, n=19).



Figure 26. Total time spent and traveled in the periphery. A) Total distance traveled in the periphery during all 3 sessions by the different groups. One-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD showed a statistically significant lower distance traveled by the HV group when compared to the NV group (p<0.05) but comparable to both NSERT and HV groups (P>0.05). The HSERT group traveled a total distance in the periphery significantly lower than that of the NV group (p<0.05, one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD) but comparable to both HV and NSERT groups (p>0.05, one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). The NSERT group traveled a total distance in the periphery significantly lower than that of the NV group (p<0.05, oneway ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD) but comparable to both HV and HSERT groups (p>0.05, one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). B) Total time spent in the periphery during all 3 sessions by the different groups. One-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD showed a significantly higher time spent in the periphery by the HV group when compared to the NV group (p<0.05). The HSERT group spent a total time in the periphery significantly higher than that of the NV, HV, and NSERT groups (p<0.05, one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD. The NSERT group spent a total time in the periphery significantly higher than that of the NV group (p<0.05, one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD) but comparable to the HV group (p>0.05, one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). HSERT group (hypoxic seizure with sertraline, n=19), HV group (hypoxic seizure with vehicle, n=17), NSERT group (normoxic with sertraline, n=19), NV group (normoxic with vehicle, n=18).



Figure 27. Total time spent and traveled in the center. A) Total distance traveled in the center (next to objects) during all 3 sessions by the different groups. One-way ANOVA showed a statistically significant lower distance traveled in the center by the HV group when compared to the NV group (P<0.05, one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). The total distance traveled in the center by the HSERT group was significantly lower than that of both NV and NSERT groups (p<0.05, one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD) but comparable to that of the HV group (p>0.05, one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). The total distance traveled by the NSERT group was significantly lower than that of the NV group (p<0.05, one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD) but comparable to that of the HV group (p>0.05, one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). B) Total time spent in the center (next to objects) during all 3 sessions by the different groups. One-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD showed a statistically significant lower time spent in the center by the HV group when compared to the NV group (p<0.05, one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). The HSERT group spent a total time in the center significantly lower than that of NV, HV, and NSERT groups (p<0.05, one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). The NSERT group spent a total time in the center significantly lower than that of the NV group (p<0.05, one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD) but comparable to that of the HV group (p>0.05, one-way ANOVA with post hoc Fisher's LSD). NV group (normoxic with vehicle, n=18), HV group (hypoxic seizure with vehicle, n=17), NSERT group (normoxic with sertraline, n=19), HSERT group (hypoxic seizure with sertraline, n=19).

D. Histological Analysis

1. Hippocampal and prefrontal cortex neuronal cell count (NeuN)

Our preliminary histological data, via visual inspection of the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex, revealed a comparable neuronal density between all groups (Fig. 28).



Figure 28. Hippocampal pyramidal neurons density. Visual inspection reveals comparable hippocampal neuronal cell densities among the different groups. NV group (normoxic with vehicle), HV group (hypoxic seizure with vehicle), HSERT group (hypoxic seizure with sertraline).

2. Hippocampal and prefrontal cortex synaptic plasticity marker (Syp)

Our preliminary data suggest an increased expression of synaptophysin in the hilar region and CA2-3 region of the hippocampus of the HV group when compared to the rest of the groups. As for the prefrontal cortex, the HV group presented a higher SYP expression in comparison to the NV group with the NV group having the lowest SYP expression when compared to the rest of the groups (Fig. 29)



Figure 29. Alteration in hippocampal synaptic plasticity marker, synaptophysin. Visual inspection reveals higher expression of synaptophysin in the hilar region (red arrow) and the CA2-3 region (blue arrow) of the HV group. HV group (hypoxic seizure with vehicle), NSERT group (normoxic with sertraline), HSERT group (hypoxic seizure with sertraline).

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

In this study, we show that sertraline can reverse the hypoxic seizure-induced depressive-like behavior. We also confirm that early-life hypoxic seizures result in depressive-like and anxious-like behaviors during peri-adolescence. Children who have suffered from perinatal asphyxia, followed by neonatal hypoxic seizure exhibit impaired short and long-term developmental outcomes, with depression being the most prominent of them. Thus, increasing interest in optimizing therapeutic strategies through a better understanding of the molecular pathways involved in epilepsy and depression has been emerging. We also report preliminary proof of disrupted synaptic homeostasis mediating the molecular alteration in the brain post hypoxic seizures.

In our study, early life HS led to depressive-like behaviors, evidenced by increased immobility and decreased struggling during the FST, that were effectively reversed by sertraline. This complies with previous studies done in our lab (49). ThE protective effect of sertraline against peri-adolescent mood disorders was conferred by a daily administration of the medication starting the peri-adolescent age (P24) following an early brain insult during infancy. Treating hypoxic-seizure-associated comorbidities is crucial for adolescent patients as depression had been shown to highly deteriorate their quality of life (16). SSRIs can be safely used in pediatric patients suffering from epilepsy and this type of antidepressant has been correlated with lower seizure incidence and exhibits anticonvulsant properties (207). Nonetheless, its effectiveness in treating seizure-associated depression remained elusive. Even within the emergence of epilepsy, patients suffer more from seizures' deleterious impact on their mental health more than they do suffer from epileptic episodes. Furthermore, a bidirectional

association exists between seizures and depression. Thus, acting on alleviating one condition might attenuate the severity of the other (171,172). Other studies have revealed the same effect of sertraline, increased swimming and climbing in the FST, in a rat model of hypobaric hypoxia and another model bred for a stress-induced reduction in motor activity in the swim test (268). Better antidepressant properties have been recorded with the administration of sertraline versus that of paroxetine, despite both belonging to the SSRIs family. In fact, sertraline can block dopamine reuptake by targeting the dopamine transporters (200). This suggests that antidepressants that target both dopamine and serotonin transporters are the most suitable treatment option. Furthermore, sertraline's anti-depressive effect can be mediated by a regulation of BDNF and TrkB levels. However, a chronic administration is required to alter gene expression (224). Comparable behaviors of HV and NV rats observed during the second testing day might be caused by rats' habituation to the test. The increased swimming and struggling observed in sertraline are not caused by sertraline-linked hyperactivity but rather sertraline-linked increased anxiety. In fact, the OFT reveals that sertraline administration did not result in any hyperactivity since the NV group had the highest total distance traveled. The OFT highlights anxiety-like behaviors in hypoxic rats that can be worsened by the administration of sertraline. A longer time spent in the peripheral region versus the central regions is considered an indicator of anxious-like behaviors. The absence of anxiolytic effects of sertraline might be caused by the short duration of the treatment (treatment onset one day before behavioral testing). This, reveals that despite the efficiency of SSRIs in alleviating seizure burden and reducing seizure reoccurrence, their prescription to young patients should be done while taking into consideration their potential anxiogenic secondary effect. It has been reported that

acute treatment with SSRIs worsens anxiety-like behaviors (269). This might be mediated by an altered function of the 5-HTergic system (269). Furthermore, a chronic administration of the medication is required to alter the genetic expression of the BDNF-TrkB pathways that in turn regulate behavior (224). Nevertheless, secondary effects such as hypodopaminergic state and cognitive decline are lower with sertraline in contrast with other types of SSRIs (200). Therefore, SSRI can be considered as one of the best options to attenuate HS-induced depression, yet optimal treatment duration ought to be further investigated to determine possible anxiolytic properties.

Moreover, the absence of neuronal cell loss, revealed by comparable neuronal densities, suggests that the behavioral perturbations might be mediated by other molecular alterations. This comparable neuronal density was as well observed in our previous studies (49). Potential cellular mechanisms underlying the observed behavioral deficits possibly include disruption of synaptic plasticity. Our preliminary data revealed a higher expression of synaptophysin, a synaptic plasticity marker, in the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex of rats that underwent hypoxic seizures when compared to the normoxic ones. SYP is present in approximately all neurons and is considered to be a specific marker for synaptic terminals (270). This protein plays an important role in regulating learning, memory (LTP), and intellectual dysregulation in patients suffering from epilepsy (262,275-277). Contrary to our results, a reduction in medial prefrontal cortex mPFC SYP levels was observed in other models of early-life stress and neonatal hypoxic ischemia (271,272). However, the mentioned models of hypoxia, in contrast to ours, did not induce any seizure. Other models of hypoxic seizures have revealed a decrease in the SYP expression restricted to the hippocampal CA1 region. Furthermore, both a decrease in SYP and BDNF positive areas are observed in the hippocampus of

rats subjected to hypoxic ischemia (273). Nonetheless, in previous studies, our model has revealed an increased TrkB activation, underlying an increased BDNF expression (274). This hippocampal BDNF overexpression facilitates LTP possibly explaining the SYP overexpression in rats that underwent hypoxic seizures (223). It becomes evident that a disruption in synaptic plasticity is correlated with behavioral comorbidities observed in hypoxic seizures. More precise quantification of synaptic plasticity markers and BDNF-TrkB pathways activation is required for a better understanding of the underlying molecular mechanisms. This will allow the precise development and optimization of therapeutic applications.

CHAPTER VI

LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVE

This work provides valid evidence of sertraline's effectiveness in treating depressive-like behaviors in peri-adolescent rats following early-life hypoxic seizures and highlights the possible anxiogenic secondary effect of short-term treatment. The study, however, has some limitations that can be traced back to time and financial restraints during the COVID-19 pandemic. Typically, histological studies require numbers not less than 3-5 animals per group with 3 sections per brain to be analyzed using the ImageJ software. This ensures sufficiently objective and powered data to establish precise statistics. Due to technical difficulties with the imaging microscope that went out of service, we were not able to get representative pictures for all groups, nor enough pictures to perform any statistical analysis. Hence, our histological outcomes are still preliminary.

Ongoing experiments in our laboratory aim to further investigate hippocampal and prefrontal cortex molecular alterations including histological analysis, miRNA assays, and western-blot testing. Furthermore, our study only included male SD rats. Future work intends to evaluate behavioral outcomes in female rats, as a differential gender manifestation of depression has been reported throughout the literature.

The treatment of hypoxia-induced depression needs to be further investigated due to its harmful effects on the brain and the quality of life of its survivor. Further research is needed to confirm the long-term repercussion of sertraline on behavioral outcomes and support the assumption that SSRIs are the anti-depressant of choice to be prescribed in pediatric patients.

CHAPTER VII

CONCLUSION

Here we demonstrated sertraline's effectiveness in reversing depressive-like behaviors. Our hypoxic-seizure model successfully recapitulates depressive-like and anxiety-like behaviors in peri-adolescent rats similar to the behavioral defects observed in pediatric patients who have suffered from perinatal hypoxic-ischemia. However, the short-term treatment did not improve anxious-like behaviors. The molecular mechanisms mediating these behavioral disturbances possibly include alteration in synaptic plasticity markers and BDNF-TrkB pathway dysfunctions. These results highlight the necessity of treating epilepsy-associated behavioral comorbidities. Investigating the effects of a longer treatment duration will help determine if sertraline's chronic administration holds late-onset anxiolytic effects and will depict its optimal use in children who have suffered from early-life hypoxic seizures.

REFERENCES

(1) Fisher RS. Final comments on the process: ILAE definition of epilepsy. Epilepsia 2014;55(4):492-493.

(2) Guerreiro CA. Epilepsy: Is there hope? Indian J Med Res 2016 Nov;144(5):657-660.

(3) Pitkänen A, Lukasiuk K. Molecular and cellular basis of epileptogenesis in symptomatic epilepsy. Epilepsy & behavior 2009;14(1):16-25.

(4) Reddy DS. Neuroendocrine aspects of catamenial epilepsy. Horm Behav 2013;63(2):254-266.

(5) Bar-Klein G, Lublinsky S, Kamintsky L, Noyman I, Veksler R, Dalipaj H, et al. Imaging blood–brain barrier dysfunction as a biomarker for epileptogenesis. Brain 2017;140(6):1692-1705.

(6) Aroniadou-Anderjaska V, Fritsch B, Qashu F, Braga MF. Pathology and pathophysiology of the amygdala in epileptogenesis and epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 2008;78(2-3):102-116.

(7) Ashrafi MR, Shams S, Nouri M, Mohseni M, Shabanian R, Yekaninejad MS, et al. A probable causative factor for an old problem: selenium and glutathione peroxidase appear to play important roles in epilepsy pathogenesis. Epilepsia 2007;48(9):1750-1755.

(8) Loscher W, Brandt C. Prevention or modification of epileptogenesis after brain insults: experimental approaches and translational research. Pharmacol Rev 2010 Dec;62(4):668-700.

(9) Hauser WA, Annegers JF, Kurland LT. Prevalence of epilepsy in Rochester, Minnesota: 1940–1980. Epilepsia 1991;32(4):429-445.

(10) De Haan T, Langeslag J, van der Lee J, van Kaam A. A systematic review comparing neurodevelopmental outcome in term infants with hypoxic and vascular brain injury with and without seizures. BMC pediatrics 2018;18(1):1-7.

(11) Weeke LC, Groenendaal F, Toet MC, Benders MJ, Nievelstein RA, van Rooij LG, et al. The aetiology of neonatal seizures and the diagnostic contribution of neonatal cerebral magnetic resonance imaging. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology 2015;57(3):248-256.

(12) Ramantani G. Neonatal epilepsy and underlying aetiology: to what extent do seizures and EEG abnormalities influence outcome? Epileptic disorders 2013;15(4):365-375.

(13) van der Heide, Mariska J, Roze E, van der Veere, Christa N, Ter Horst HJ, Brouwer OF, Bos AF. Long-term neurological outcome of term-born children treated with two or more anti-epileptic drugs during the neonatal period. Early Hum Dev 2012;88(1):33-38.

(14) Pisani F, Piccolo B, Cantalupo G, Copioli C, Fusco C, Pelosi A, et al. Neonatal seizures and postneonatal epilepsy: a 7-y follow-up study. Pediatr Res 2012;72(2):186-193.

(15) Nunes ML, Martins MP, Barea BM, Wainberg RC, Costa JCd. Neurological outcome of newborns with neonatal seizures: a cohort study in a tertiary university hospital. Arq Neuropsiquiatr 2008;66(2A):168-174.

(16) Gilliam FG, Santos J, Vahle V, Carter J, Brown K, Hecimovic H. Depression in epilepsy: ignoring clinical expression of neuronal network dysfunction? Epilepsia 2004;45:28-33.

(17) Volpe JJ. Perinatal brain injury: from pathogenesis to neuroprotection. Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev 2001;7(1):56-64.

(18) Jensen F, Applegate C, Holtzman D, Belin T, Burchfiel J. Epileptogenic effect of hypoxia in the immature rodent brain. Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society 1991;29(6):629-637.

(19) van Handel M, de Sonneville L, de Vries LS, Jongmans MJ, Swaab H. Specific memory impairment following neonatal encephalopathy in term-born children. Dev Neuropsychol 2012;37(1):30-50.

(20) Kurinczuk JJ, White-Koning M, Badawi N. Epidemiology of neonatal encephalopathy and hypoxic–ischaemic encephalopathy. Early Hum Dev 2010;86(6):329-338.

(21) Marcelino TB, de Lemos Rodrigues, Patricia Idalina, Miguel PM, Netto CA, Silva LOP, Matté C. Effect of maternal exercise on biochemical parameters in rats submitted to neonatal hypoxia-ischemia. Brain Res 2015;1622:91-101.

(22) Padayachee N, Ballot DE. Outcomes of neonates with perinatal asphyxia at a tertiary academic hospital in Johannesburg, South Africa. South African Journal of Child Health 2013;7(3):89-94.

(23) Brossard-Racine M, Hall N, Majnemer A, Shevell MI, Law M, Poulin C, et al. Behavioural problems in school age children with cerebral palsy. European journal of paediatric neurology 2012;16(1):35-41.

(24) What is birth asphyxia? What is HIE?. Available at: https://www.abclawcenters.com/ohio-birth-injury-attorneys/oxygen-deprivation/.

(25) Adstamongkonkul D, Hess DC. Ischemic Conditioning and neonatal hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy: a literature review. Cond Med 2017 Dec;1(1):9-16.

(26) Vannucci RC, Perlman JM. Interventions for perinatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. Pediatrics 1997 Dec;100(6):1004-1014.

(27) Shah PS, Perlman M. Time courses of intrapartum asphyxia: neonatal characteristics and outcomes. Am J Perinatol 2009;26(01):039-044.

(28) Simiyu IN, Mchaile DN, Katsongeri K, Philemon RN, Msuya SE. Prevalence, severity and early outcomes of hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy among newborns at a tertiary hospital, in northern Tanzania. BMC pediatrics 2017;17(1):131.

(29) Mah ME, Chiabi A, Tchokoteu PF, Nguefack S, Bogne J, Siyou H, et al. Neonatal mortality in a referral hospital in Cameroon over a seven year period: trends, associated factors and causes. African health sciences 2014;14(3):517-525.

(30) Memon S, Shaikh S, Bibi S. To compare the outcome (early) of neonates with birth asphyxia in-relation to place of delivery and age at time of admission. J Pak Med Assoc 2012 Dec;62(12):1277-1281.

(31) Ondoa-Onama C, Tumwine J. Immediate outcome of babies with low Apgar score in Mulago Hospital, Uganda. East Afr Med J 2003;80(1):22-29.

(32) Zhang Y, Zhang JL, Li Y. Computed tomography diagnosis of neonatal hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy combined with intracranial hemorrhage and clinical nursing treatment. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents 2016 Apr-Jun;30(2):511-515.

(33) Lippman-Bell JJ, Rakhade SN, Klein PM, Obeid M, Jackson MC, Joseph A, et al. AMPA Receptor antagonist NBQX attenuates later-life epileptic seizures and autistic-like social deficits following neonatal seizures. Epilepsia 2013;54(11):1922-1932.

(34) Kharoshankaya L, Stevenson NJ, Livingstone V, Murray DM, Murphy BP, Ahearne CE, et al. Seizure burden and neurodevelopmental outcome in neonates with hypoxic–ischemic encephalopathy. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology 2016;58(12):1242-1248.

(35) Outcomes after acute symptomatic seizures in neonates. Seminars in Fetal and Neonatal Medicine: Elsevier; 2018.

(36) Garfinkle J, Shevell MI. Prognostic factors and development of a scoring system for outcome of neonatal seizures in term infants. european journal of paediatric neurology 2011;15(3):222-229.

(37) Bennet L, Roelfsema V, Pathipati P, Quaedackers J, Gunn A. Relationship between evolving epileptiform activity and delayed loss of mitochondrial activity after asphyxia measured by near-infrared spectroscopy in preterm fetal sheep. J Physiol (Lond) 2006;572(1):141-154.

(38) Vannucci SJ, Hagberg H. Hypoxia-ischemia in the immature brain. J Exp Biol 2004 Aug;207(Pt 18):3149-3154.

(39) Bennet L, Tan S, Van den Heuij L, Derrick M, Groenendaal F, Van Bel F, et al. Cell therapy for neonatal hypoxia–ischemia and cerebral palsy. Ann Neurol 2012;71(5):589-600.

(40) Cazorla M, Jouvenceau A, Rose C, Guilloux J, Pilon C, Dranovsky A, et al. Cyclotraxin-B, the first highly potent and selective TrkB inhibitor, has anxiolytic properties in mice. PloS one 2010;5(3):e9777.

(41) Waterhouse EG, An JJ, Orefice LL, Baydyuk M, Liao GY, Zheng K, et al. BDNF promotes differentiation and maturation of adult-born neurons through GABAergic transmission. J Neurosci 2012 Oct 10;32(41):14318-14330.

(42) Numakawa T, Suzuki S, Kumamaru E, Adachi N, Richards M, Kunugi H. BDNF function and intracellular signaling in neurons. Histol Histopathol 2010.

(43) Hempstead BL. Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor: Three Ligands, Many Actions. Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc 2015;126:9-19.

(44) Vedunova MV, Mishchenko TA, Mitroshina EV, Mukhina IV. TrkB-mediated neuroprotective and antihypoxic properties of brain-derived neurotrophic factor. Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity 2015;2015.

(45) Ferrer I, Krupinski J, Goutan E, Marti E, Ambrosio S, Arenas E. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor reduces cortical cell death by ischemia after middle cerebral artery occlusion in the rat. Acta Neuropathol 2001;101(3):229-238.

(46) Almli CR, Levy TJ, Han BH, Shah AR, Gidday JM, Holtzman DM. BDNF protects against spatial memory deficits following neonatal hypoxia-ischemia. Exp Neurol 2000;166(1):99-114.

(47) Golder FJ, Ranganathan L, Satriotomo I, Hoffman M, Lovett-Barr MR, Watters JJ, et al. Spinal adenosine A2a receptor activation elicits long-lasting phrenic motor facilitation. J Neurosci 2008 Feb 27;28(9):2033-2042.

(48) Carter B, Sullivan B, Landers J, Kadam S. Dose-dependent reversal of KCC2 hypofunction and phenobarbital-resistant neonatal seizures by ANA12. Scientific reports 2018;8(1):1-18.

(49) Medlej Y, Salah H, Wadi L, Saad S, Bashir B, Allam J, et al. Lestaurtinib (CEP-701) modulates the effects of early life hypoxic seizures on cognitive and emotional behaviors in immature rats. Epilepsy & Behavior 2019 March 2019;92:332-340.

(50) Liu SJ, Savtchouk I. Ca2 permeable AMPA receptors switch allegiances: mechanisms and consequences. J Physiol (Lond) 2012;590(1):13-20.

(51) Spaethling JM, Klein DM, Singh P, Meaney DF. Calcium-permeable AMPA receptors appear in cortical neurons after traumatic mechanical injury and contribute to neuronal fate. J Neurotrauma 2008;25(10):1207-1216.

(52) Zaitsev A, Kim K, Fedorova I, Dorofeeva N, Magazanik L, Tikhonov D. Specific mechanism of use-dependent channel block of calcium-permeable AMPA receptors provides activity-dependent inhibition of glutamatergic neurotransmission. J Physiol (Lond) 2011;589(7):1587-1601.

(53) Mahajan S, Ziff E. Novel toxicity of the unedited GluR2 AMPA receptor subunit dependent on surface trafficking and increased Ca2 -permeability. Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience 2007;35(3):470-481.

(54) Graebenitz S, Kedo O, Speckmann E, Gorji A, Panneck H, Hans V, et al. Interictallike network activity and receptor expression in the epileptic human lateral amygdala. Brain 2011;134(10):2929-2947.

(55) Jantzie L, Getsy P, Firl D, Wilson C, Miller R, Robinson S. Erythropoietin attenuates loss of potassium chloride co-transporters following prenatal brain injury. Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience 2014;61:152-162.

(56) Wang Y, Wang Y, Chen Z. Double-edged GABAergic synaptic transmission in seizures: the importance of chloride plasticity. Brain Res 2018;1701:126-136.

(57) Zhou HY, Chen SR, Byun HS, Chen H, Li L, Han HD, et al. N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor- and calpain-mediated proteolytic cleavage of K+-Cl- cotransporter-2 impairs spinal chloride homeostasis in neuropathic pain. J Biol Chem 2012 Sep 28;287(40):33853-33864.

(58) Kelley MR, Cardarelli RA, Smalley JL, Ollerhead TA, Andrew PM, Brandon NJ, et al. Locally reducing KCC2 activity in the hippocampus is sufficient to induce temporal lobe epilepsy. EBioMedicine 2018;32:62-71.

(59) Kaila K, Price TJ, Payne JA, Puskarjov M, Voipio J. Cation-chloride cotransporters in neuronal development, plasticity and disease. Nature Reviews Neuroscience 2014;15(10):637-654.

(60) Liu R, Wang J, Liang S, Zhang G, Yang X. Role of NKCC1 and KCC2 in Epilepsy: From Expression to Function. Frontiers in Neurology 2020;10:1407.

(61) Kang J, Rychahou PG, Ishola TA, Mourot JM, Evers BM, Chung DH. N-myc is a novel regulator of PI3K-mediated VEGF expression in neuroblastoma. Oncogene 2008;27(28):3999-4007.

(62) Chen H, Xiong T, Qu Y, Zhao F, Ferriero D, Mu D. mTOR activates hypoxiainducible factor-1α and inhibits neuronal apoptosis in the developing rat brain during the early phase after hypoxia–ischemia. Neurosci Lett 2012;507(2):118-123.

(63) Gong R, Park CS, Abbassi NR, Tang SJ. Roles of glutamate receptors and the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling pathway in activity-dependent dendritic protein synthesis in hippocampal neurons. J Biol Chem 2006 Jul 7;281(27):18802-18815.

(64) Guo D, Zeng L, Brody DL, Wong M. Rapamycin attenuates the development of posttraumatic epilepsy in a mouse model of traumatic brain injury. PloS one 2013;8(5):e64078.

(65) Stoica L, Zhu PJ, Huang W, Zhou H, Kozma SC, Costa-Mattioli M. Selective pharmacogenetic inhibition of mammalian target of Rapamycin complex I (mTORC1) blocks long-term synaptic plasticity and memory storage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011 Mar 1;108(9):3791-3796.

(66) LaSarge CL, Danzer SC. Mechanisms regulating neuronal excitability and seizure development following mTOR pathway hyperactivation. Frontiers in molecular neuroscience 2014;7:18.

(67) Slipczuk L, Bekinschtein P, Katche C, Cammarota M, Izquierdo I, Medina JH. BDNF activates mTOR to regulate GluR1 expression required for memory formation. PloS one 2009;4(6):e6007.

(68) Talos DM, Sun H, Zhou X, Fitzgerald EC, Jackson MC, Klein PM, et al. The interaction between early life epilepsy and autistic-like behavioral consequences: a role for the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway. PloS one 2012;7(5):e35885.

(69) Lee J, Bae S, Jeong J, Kim S, Kim K. Hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF-1) α : its protein stability and biological functions. Exp Mol Med 2004;36(1):1-12.

(70) Jie L, Guohui J, Chen Y, Chen L, Li Z, Wang Z, et al. Altered expression of hypoxia-Inducible factor- 1α participates in the epileptogenesis in animal models. Synapse 2014;68(9):402-409.

(71) Long Q, Fan C, Kai W, Luo Q, Xin W, Wang P, et al. Hypoxia inducible factor- 1α expression is associated with hippocampal apoptosis during epileptogenesis. Brain Res 2014;1590:20-30.

(72) Wang J, Lei B, Popp S, Meng F, Cottrell J, Kass I. Sevoflurane immediate preconditioning alters hypoxic membrane potential changes in rat hippocampal slices and improves recovery of CA1 pyramidal cells after hypoxia and global cerebral ischemia. Neuroscience 2007;145(3):1097-1107.

(73) Boison D, Steinhäuser C. Epilepsy and astrocyte energy metabolism. Glia 2018;66(6):1235-1243.

(74) Kobylarek D, Iwanowski P, Lewandowska Z, Limphaibool N, Szafranek S, Labrzycka A, et al. Advances in the potential biomarkers of epilepsy. Frontiers in Neurology 2019;10.

(75) Kaidi A, Qualtrough D, Williams AC, Paraskeva C. Direct transcriptional upregulation of cyclooxygenase-2 by hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1 promotes colorectal tumor cell survival and enhances HIF-1 transcriptional activity during hypoxia. Cancer Res 2006 Jul 1;66(13):6683-6691. (76) Benbadis SR, Tatum WO. Overintepretation of EEGs and misdiagnosis of epilepsy. Journal of clinical neurophysiology 2003;20(1):42-44.

(77) Puka-Sundvall M, Wallin C, Gilland E, Hallin U, Wang X, Sandberg M, et al. Impairment of mitochondrial respiration after cerebral hypoxia–ischemia in immature rats: relationship to activation of caspase-3 and neuronal injury. Dev Brain Res 2000;125(1-2):43-50.

(78) Tazegul G, Etcioglu E, Yildiz F, Yildiz R, Tuney D. Can MRI related patient anxiety be prevented? Magn Reson Imaging 2015;33(1):180-183.

(79) Nishimura Y, Romer LH, Lemasters JJ. Mitochondrial dysfunction and cytoskeletal disruption during chemical hypoxia to cultured rat hepatic sinusoidal endothelial cells: the pH paradox and cytoprotection by glucose, acidotic pH, and glycine. Hepatology 1998;27(4):1039-1049.

(80) Cross J, Meloni B, Bakker A, Lee S, Knuckey N. Modes of neuronal calcium entry and homeostasis following cerebral ischemia. Stroke research and treatment 2010;2010.

(81) Cerio FGd, Lara-Celador I, Alvarez A, Hilario E. Neuroprotective therapies after perinatal hypoxic-ischemic brain injury. Brain sciences 2013;3(1):191-214.

(82) Hall ED. Brain attack. Acute therapeutic interventions. Free radical scavengers and antioxidants. Neurosurg Clin N Am 1997 Apr;8(2):195-206.

(83) Fan X, Kavelaars A, J Heijnen C, Groenendaal F, Van Bel F. Pharmacological neuroprotection after perinatal hypoxic-ischemic brain injury. Current neuropharmacology 2010;8(4):324-334.

(84) Fabian RH, Perez-Polo JR, Kent TA. Perivascular nitric oxide and superoxide in neonatal cerebral hypoxia-ischemia. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology 2008;295(4):H1809-H1814.

(85) Wang Q, Tang XN, Yenari MA. The inflammatory response in stroke. J Neuroimmunol 2007;184(1-2):53-68.

(86) Perrone S, Szabó M, Bellieni CV, Longini M, Bangó M, Kelen D, et al. Whole body hypothermia and oxidative stress in babies with hypoxic-ischemic brain injury. Pediatr Neurol 2010;43(4):236-240.

(87) Yamasaki Y, Matsuura N, Shozuhara H, Onodera H, Itoyama Y, Kogure K. Interleukin-1 as a pathogenetic mediator of ischemic brain damage in rats. Stroke 1995;26(4):676-681.

(88) Blomgren K, Leist M, Groc L. Pathological apoptosis in the developing brain. Apoptosis 2007;12(5):993-1010.

(89) Malone A, Anthony Ryan C, Fitzgerald A, Burgoyne L, Connolly S, Boylan GB. Interobserver agreement in neonatal seizure identification. Epilepsia 2009;50(9):2097-2101.

(90) Nash KB, Bonifacio SL, Glass HC, Sullivan JE, Barkovich AJ, Ferriero DM, et al. Video-EEG monitoring in newborns with hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy treated with hypothermia. Neurology 2011 Feb 8;76(6):556-562.

(91) Shi Y, Zhao X, Hsieh J, Wichterle H, Impey S, Banerjee S, et al. MicroRNA regulation of neural stem cells and neurogenesis. J Neurosci 2010 Nov 10;30(45):14931-14936.

(92) Carissimi C, Fulci V, Macino G. MicroRNAs: novel regulators of immunity. Autoimmunity reviews 2009;8(6):520-524.

(93) Henshall DC, Hamer HM, Pasterkamp RJ, Goldstein DB, Kjems J, Prehn JH, et al. MicroRNAs in epilepsy: pathophysiology and clinical utility. The Lancet Neurology 2016;15(13):1368-1376.

(94) Gao W, Liu L, Lu X, Shu Y. Circulating MicroRNAs: possible prediction biomarkers for personalized therapy of non–small-cell lung carcinoma. Clinical lung cancer 2011;12(1):14-17.

(95) Cheng X, Ku C, Siow RC. Regulation of the Nrf2 antioxidant pathway by microRNAs: new players in micromanaging redox homeostasis. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 2013;64:4-11.

(96) Ambros V. MicroRNA pathways in flies and worms: growth, death, fat, stress, and timing. Cell 2003;113(6):673-676.

(97) Filipowicz W, Bhattacharyya SN, Sonenberg N. Mechanisms of posttranscriptional regulation by microRNAs: are the answers in sight? Nature reviews genetics 2008;9(2):102-114.

(98) Dharap A, Bowen K, Place R, Li L, Vemuganti R. Transient focal ischemia induces extensive temporal changes in rat cerebral microRNAome. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism 2009;29(4):675-687.

(99) Gong GH, An FM, Wang Y, Bian M, Wang D, Wei CX. MiR-153 regulates expression of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha in refractory epilepsy. Oncotarget 2018 Jan 5;9(9):8542-8547.

(100) Salceda S, Caro J. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha (HIF-1alpha) protein is rapidly degraded by the ubiquitin-proteasome system under normoxic conditions. Its stabilization by hypoxia depends on redox-induced changes. J Biol Chem 1997 Sep 5;272(36):22642-22647.

(101) Bartoszewska S, Rochan K, Piotrowski A, Kamysz W, Ochocka RJ, Collawn JF, et al. The hypoxia-inducible miR-429 regulates hypoxia-inducible factor-1α expression in human endothelial cells through a negative feedback loop. The FASEB Journal 2015;29(4):1467-1479.

(102) Whitehead C, Walker S, Lappas M, Tong S. Circulating RNA coding genes regulating apoptosis in maternal blood in severe early onset fetal growth restriction and pre-eclampsia. Journal of Perinatology 2013;33(8):600-604.

(103) Looney A, Ahearne C, Hallberg B, Boylan G, Murray D. Downstream mRNA target analysis in neonatal hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy identifies novel marker of severe injury: A proof of concept paper. Mol Neurobiol 2017;54(10):8420-8428.

(104) Edwards AD, Brocklehurst P, Gunn AJ, Halliday H, Juszczak E, Levene M, et al. Neurological outcomes at 18 months of age after moderate hypothermia for perinatal hypoxic ischaemic encephalopathy: synthesis and meta-analysis of trial data. BMJ 2010 Feb 9;340:c363.

(105) Thoresen M, Satas S, Puka-Sundvall M, Whitelaw A, Hallström Å, Løberg E, et al. Post-hypoxic hypothermia reduces cerebrocortical release of NO and excitotoxins. Neuroreport 1997;8(15):3359-3362.

(106) Higgins RD, Raju T, Edwards AD, Azzopardi DV, Bose CL, Clark RH, et al. Hypothermia and other treatment options for neonatal encephalopathy: an executive summary of the Eunice Kennedy Shriver NICHD workshop. J Pediatr 2011 Nov;159(5):851-858.e1.

(107) Shankaran S, Laptook AR, Pappas A, McDonald SA, Das A, Tyson JE, et al. Effect of depth and duration of cooling on deaths in the NICU among neonates with hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2014;312(24):2629-2639.

(108) Therapeutic hypothermia (cooling) for babies with Hypoxic-Ischemic Encephalopathy (HIE). Available at: https://www.abclawcenters.com/practice-areas/treatments-and-therapies-for-birth-injuries/hypothermia-cooling/.

(109) Gunn AJ, Gunn TR, Gunning MI, Williams CE, Gluckman PD. Neuroprotection with prolonged head cooling started before postischemic seizures in fetal sheep. Pediatrics 1998 Nov;102(5):1098-1106.

(110) Roelfsema V, Bennet L, George S, Wu D, Guan J, Veerman M, et al. Window of opportunity of cerebral hypothermia for postischemic white matter injury in the near-term fetal sheep. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism 2004;24(8):877-886.

(111) Thoresen M, Tooley J, Liu X, Jary S, Fleming P, Luyt K, et al. Time is brain: starting therapeutic hypothermia within three hours after birth improves motor outcome in asphyxiated newborns. Neonatology 2013;104(3):228-233.

(112) Zhou W, Cheng G, Shao X, Liu X, Shan R, Zhuang D, et al. Selective head cooling with mild systemic hypothermia after neonatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy: a multicenter randomized controlled trial in China. J Pediatr 2010;157(3):367-372. e3.

(113) Gluckman PD, Wyatt JS, Azzopardi D, Ballard R, Edwards AD, Ferriero DM, et al. Selective head cooling with mild systemic hypothermia after neonatal encephalopathy: multicentre randomised trial. The Lancet 2005;365(9460):663-670.

(114) Jacobs SE, Morley CJ, Inder TE, Stewart MJ, Smith KR, McNamara PJ, et al. Whole-body hypothermia for term and near-term newborns with hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy: a randomized controlled trial. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2011;165(8):692-700.

(115) Tagin MA, Woolcott CG, Vincer MJ, Whyte RK, Stinson DA. Hypothermia for neonatal hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy: an updated systematic review and metaanalysis. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2012;166(6):558-566.

(116) Cooling for longer improves neuroprotection after hypoxic-ischaemic insult in a neonatal rat model. Poster Presentation. Baltimore MD: Pediatric Academic Society Meeting; 2009.

(117) Trescher WH, Ishiwa S, Johnston MV. Brief post-hypoxic-ischemic hypothermia markedly delays neonatal brain injury. Brain and Development 1997;19(5):326-338.

(118) Shankaran S, Pappas A, McDonald SA, Vohr BR, Hintz SR, Yolton K, et al. Childhood outcomes after hypothermia for neonatal encephalopathy. N Engl J Med 2012;366(22):2085-2092.

(119) Azzopardi DV, Strohm B, Edwards AD, Dyet L, Halliday HL, Juszczak E, et al. Moderate hypothermia to treat perinatal asphyxial encephalopathy. N Engl J Med 2009;361(14):1349-1358.

(120) Sabir H, Scull-Brown E, Liu X, Thoresen M. Immediate hypothermia is not neuroprotective after severe hypoxia-ischemia and is deleterious when delayed by 12 hours in neonatal rats. Stroke 2012;43(12):3364-3370.

(121) Yıldız EP, Ekici B, Tatlı B. Neonatal hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy: an update on disease pathogenesis and treatment. Expert review of neurotherapeutics 2017;17(5):449-459.

(122) Barrett RD, Bennet L, Davidson J, Dean JM, George S, Emerald BS, et al. Destruction and reconstruction: hypoxia and the developing brain. Birth Defects Research Part C: Embryo Today: Reviews 2007;81(3):163-176.

(123) Wagner CL, Eicher DJ, Katikaneni LD, Barbosa E, Holden KR. The use of hypothermia: a role in the treatment of neonatal asphyxia? Pediatr Neurol 1999;21(1):429-443.

(124) Gunn AJ, Bennet L, Gunning MI, Gluckman PD, Gunn TR. Cerebral hypothermia is not neuroprotective when started after postischemic seizures in fetal sheep. Pediatr Res 1999;46(3):274-280.

(125) Shah DK, Wusthoff CJ, Clarke P, Wyatt JS, Ramaiah SM, Dias RJ, et al. Electrographic seizures are associated with brain injury in newborns undergoing therapeutic hypothermia. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2014 May;99(3):F219-24.

(126) Graham EM, Ruis KA, Hartman AL, Northington FJ, Fox HE. A systematic review of the role of intrapartum hypoxia-ischemia in the causation of neonatal encephalopathy. Obstet Gynecol 2008;199(6):587-595.

(127) Peliowski-Davidovich A, Canadian Paediatric Society, Fetus and Newborn Committee. Hypothermia for newborns with hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy. Paediatrics & child health 2012;17(1):41-43.

(128) Wang L, Zhang Z, Wang Y, Zhang R, Chopp M. Treatment of stroke with erythropoietin enhances neurogenesis and angiogenesis and improves neurological function in rats. Stroke 2004;35(7):1732-1737.

(129) Mazur M, Miller RH, Robinson S. Postnatal erythropoietin treatment mitigates neural cell loss after systemic prenatal hypoxic-ischemic injury. Journal of Neurosurgery: Pediatrics 2010;6(3):206-221.

(130) Lee S, Chu K, Sinn D, Jung K, Kim E, Kim S, et al. Erythropoietin reduces perihematomal inflammation and cell death with eNOS and STAT3 activations in experimental intracerebral hemorrhage. J Neurochem 2006;96(6):1728-1739.

(131) Traudt CM, Juul SE. Erythropoietin as a neuroprotectant for neonatal brain injury: animal models. Tissue-Protective Cytokines: Springer; 2013. p. 113-126.

(132) Fan X, Van Bel F, Van Der Kooij, Michael A, Heijnen CJ, Groenendaal F. Hypothermia and erythropoietin for neuroprotection after neonatal brain damage. Pediatr Res 2013;73(1):18-23.

(133) Rogers EE, Bonifacio SL, Glass HC, Juul SE, Chang T, Mayock DE, et al. Erythropoietin and hypothermia for hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. Pediatr Neurol 2014;51(5):657-662.

(134) Weber A, Dzietko M, Berns M, Felderhoff-Mueser U, Heinemann U, Maier RF, et al. Neuronal damage after moderate hypoxia and erythropoietin. Neurobiol Dis 2005;20(2):594-600.

(135) Murry CE, Jennings RB, Reimer KA. Preconditioning with ischemia: a delay of lethal cell injury in ischemic myocardium. Circulation 1986 Nov;74(5):1124-1136.

(136) Gho BC, Schoemaker RG, van den Doel, Mirella A, Duncker DJ, Verdouw PD. Myocardial protection by brief ischemia in noncardiac tissue. Circulation 1996;94(9):2193-2200.

(137) Schmidt MR, Smerup M, Konstantinov IE, Shimizu M, Li J, Cheung M, et al. Intermittent peripheral tissue ischemia during coronary ischemia reduces myocardial infarction through a KATP-dependent mechanism: first demonstration of remote ischemic perconditioning. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology 2007.

(138) Muscari C, Giordano E, Bonafè F, Govoni M, Pasini A, Guarnieri C. Molecular mechanisms of ischemic preconditioning and postconditioning as putative therapeutic targets to reduce tumor survival and malignancy. Med Hypotheses 2013;81(6):1141-1145.

(139) Ren C, Wang P, Wang B, Li N, Li W, Zhang C, et al. Limb remote ischemic perconditioning in combination with post-conditioning reduces brain damage and promotes neuroglobin expression in the rat brain after ischemic stroke. Restorative Neurol Neurosci 2015;33(3):369-379.

(140) Hassell KJ, Ezzati M, Alonso-Alconada D, Hausenloy DJ, Robertson NJ. New horizons for newborn brain protection: enhancing endogenous neuroprotection. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2015 Nov;100(6):F541-52.

(141) Xu Y, Xue H, Zhao P, Yang Y, Ji G, Yu W, et al. Isoflurane postconditioning induces concentration-and timing-dependent neuroprotection partly mediated by the GluR2 AMPA receptor in neonatal rats after brain hypoxia–ischemia. Journal of anesthesia 2016;30(3):427-436.

(142) Alkan T. Neuroproctective effects of ischemic tolerance (preconditioning) and postconditioning. Turk Neurosurg 2009 Oct;19(4):406-412.

(143) Wang G, Zhou D, Wang C, Gao Y, Zhou Q, Qian G, et al. Hypoxic preconditioning suppresses group III secreted phospholipase A2-induced apoptosis via JAK2-STAT3 activation in cortical neurons. J Neurochem 2010;114(4):1039-1048.

(144) Liu C, Peng Z, Zhang N, Yu L, Han S, Li D, et al. Identification of differentially expressed microRNAs and their PKC-isoform specific gene network prediction during hypoxic pre-conditioning and focal cerebral ischemia of mice. J Neurochem 2012;120(5):830-841.

(145) Liu Y, Li B, Li Q, Zou L. Neuroglobin up-regulation after ischaemic preconditioning in a rat model of middle cerebral artery occlusion. Brain injury 2015;29(5):651-657.

(146) Zhou Y, Fathali N, Lekic T, Ostrowski RP, Chen C, Martin RD, et al. Remote limb ischemic postconditioning protects against neonatal hypoxic–ischemic brain injury in rat pups by the opioid receptor/Akt pathway. Stroke 2011;42(2):439-444.

(147) Sen E, Basu A, Willing LB, Uliasz TF, Myrkalo JL, Vannucci SJ, et al. Preconditioning induces the precocious differentiation of neonatal astrocytes to enhance their neuroprotective properties. ASN neuro 2011;3(3):e00062-e00062.

(148) Ren C, Gao M, Dornbos D, Ding Y, Zeng X, Luo Y, et al. Remote ischemic postconditioning reduced brain damage in experimental ischemia/reperfusion injury. Neurol Res 2011;33(5):514-519. (149) Zhao H, Ren C, Chen X, Shen J. From rapid to delayed and remote postconditioning: the evolving concept of ischemic postconditioning in brain ischemia. Curr Drug Targets 2012;13(2):173-187.

(150) Liu X, Zhao S, Liu F, Kang J, Xiao A, Li F, et al. Remote ischemic postconditioning alleviates cerebral ischemic injury by attenuating endoplasmic reticulum stress-mediated apoptosis. Translational stroke research 2014;5(6):692-700.

(151) Perera PND, Hu Q, Tang J, Li L, Barnhart M, Doycheva DM, et al. Delayed remote ischemic postconditioning improves long term sensory motor deficits in a neonatal hypoxic ischemic rat model. PloS one 2014;9(2):e90258.

(152) Kapinya KJ, Löwl D, Fütterer C, Maurer M, Waschke KF, Isaev NK, et al. Tolerance against ischemic neuronal injury can be induced by volatile anesthetics and is inducible NO synthase dependent. Stroke 2002;33(7):1889-1898.

(153) Xiong L, Zheng Y, Wu M, Hou L, Zhu Z, Zhang X, et al. Preconditioning with isoflurane produces dose-dependent neuroprotection via activation of adenosine triphosphate-regulated potassium channels after focal cerebral ischemia in rats. Anesthesia & Analgesia 2003;96(1):233-237.

(154) Zhang Y, Wu M, Yu H, Liu J. Emulsified isoflurane postconditioning improves survival and neurological outcomes in a rat model of cardiac arrest. Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine 2017;14(1):65-72.

(155) Chen XL, Jiang L. Physical training improves spatial learning and memory impairments following hypoxic ischemic brain damage in neonatal rats. Zhongguo Dang Dai Er Ke Za Zhi 2010 May;12(5):363-367.

(156) Welin A, Svedin P, Lapatto R, Sultan B, Hagberg H, Gressens P, et al. Melatonin reduces inflammation and cell death in white matter in the mid-gestation fetal sheep following umbilical cord occlusion. Pediatr Res 2007;61(2):153-158.

(157) Aly H, Elmahdy H, El-Dib M, Rowisha M, Awny M, El-Gohary T, et al. Melatonin use for neuroprotection in perinatal asphyxia: a randomized controlled pilot study. Journal of Perinatology 2015;35(3):186-191.

(158) Peeters-Scholte C, Braun K, Koster J, Kops N, Blomgren K, Buonocore G, et al. Effects of allopurinol and deferoxamine on reperfusion injury of the brain in newborn piglets after neonatal hypoxia-ischemia. Pediatr Res 2003;54(4):516-522.

(159) Ko KM, Godin DV. Inhibition of transition metal ion-catalysed ascorbate oxidation and lipid peroxidation by allopurinol and oxypurinol. Biochem Pharmacol 1990;40(4):803-809.

(160) Palmer C, Towfighi J, Roberts RL, Heitjan DF. Allopurinol administered after inducing hypoxia-ischemia reduces brain injury in 7-day-old rats. Pediatr Res 1993;33(4):405-411.

(161) Kaandorp JJ, van Bel F, Veen S, Derks JB, Groenendaal F, Rijken M, et al. Longterm neuroprotective effects of allopurinol after moderate perinatal asphyxia: follow-up of two randomised controlled trials. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2012 May;97(3):F162-6.

(162) Antenatal magnesium sulphate neuroprotection in the preterm infant. Seminars in Fetal and Neonatal Medicine: Elsevier; 2007.

(163) Sugimoto J, Romani AM, Valentin-Torres AM, Luciano AA, Ramirez Kitchen CM, Funderburg N, et al. Magnesium decreases inflammatory cytokine production: a novel innate immunomodulatory mechanism. J Immunol 2012 Jun 15;188(12):6338-6346.

(164) Itoh K, Maki T, Shindo A, Egawa N, Liang AC, Itoh N, et al. Magnesium sulfate protects oligodendrocyte lineage cells in a rat cell-culture model of hypoxic–ischemic injury. Neurosci Res 2016;106:66-69.

(165) Tataranno ML, Perrone S, Longini M, Buonocore G. New antioxidant drugs for neonatal brain injury. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity 2015;2015.

(166) Bozkurt O, Eras Z, Canpolat FE, Oguz SS, Uras N, Dilmen U. Antenatal magnesium sulfate and neurodevelopmental outcome of preterm infants born to preeclamptic mothers. The Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine 2016;29(7):1101-1104.

(167) Klepper J, Scheffer H, Leiendecker B, Gertsen E, Binder S, Leferink M, et al. Seizure control and acceptance of the ketogenic diet in GLUT1 deficiency syndrome: a 2-to 5-year follow-up of 15 children enrolled prospectively. Neuropediatrics 2005;36(05):302-308.

(168) Ikonomidou C, Turski L. Antiepileptic drugs and brain development. Epilepsy Res 2010;88(1):11-22.

(169) Holmes GL. Drug Treatment of Epilepsy Neuropsychiatric Comorbidities in Children. Pediatric Drugs 2021;23(1):55-73.

(170) England MJ, Liverman CT, Schultz AM, Strawbridge LM. Epilepsy across the spectrum: Promoting health and understanding.: A summary of the Institute of Medicine report. Epilepsy & Behavior 2012;25(2):266-276.

(171) Austin JK, Harezlak J, Dunn DW, Huster GA, Rose DF, Ambrosius WT. Behavior problems in children before first recognized seizures. Pediatrics 2001 Jan;107(1):115-122.

(172) Kanner AM. Psychiatric comorbidity in patients with developmental disorders and epilepsy: a practical approach to its diagnosis and treatment. Epilepsy & Behavior 2002;3(6):7-13.

(173) Hoppe C. Citing Hippocrates on depression in epilepsy. Epilepsy & Behavior 2019;90:31-36.

(174) Forsgren L, Nyström L. An incident case-referent study of epileptic seizures in adults. Epilepsy Res 1990;6(1):66-81.

(175) Jones JE, Watson R, Sheth R, Caplan R, Koehn M, Seidenberg M, et al. Psychiatric comorbidity in children with new onset epilepsy. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology 2007;49(7):493-497.

(176) Kalin NH. The critical relationship between anxiety and depression 2020.

(177) Tellez-Zenteno JF, Patten SB, Jetté N, Williams J, Wiebe S. Psychiatric comorbidity in epilepsy: a population-based analysis. Epilepsia 2007;48(12):2336-2344.

(178) Ekinci O, Titus JB, Rodopman AA, Berkem M, Trevathan E. Depression and anxiety in children and adolescents with epilepsy: prevalence, risk factors, and treatment. Epilepsy & Behavior 2009;14(1):8-18.

(179) Yang C, Hao Z, Mao Y, Xu Q, Zhao L, Zhang LL. Depression in children with epilepsy from western China: A cross-sectional survey. Medicine (Baltimore) 2020 Jun 12;99(24):e20647.

(180) Barnett A, Mercuri E, Rutherford M, Haataja L, Frisone M, Henderson S, et al. Neurological and perceptual-motor outcome at 5-6 years of age in children with neonatal encephalopathy: relationship with neonatal brain MRI. Neuropediatrics 2002;33(05):242-248.

(181) van Handel M, Swaab H, de Vries LS, Jongmans MJ. Behavioral outcome in children with a history of neonatal encephalopathy following perinatal asphyxia. J Pediatr Psychol 2010;35(3):286-295.

(182) Marlow N, Rose AS, Rands CE, Draper ES. Neuropsychological and educational problems at school age associated with neonatal encephalopathy. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2005 Sep;90(5):F380-7.

(183) Badawi N, Dixon GS, Felix JF, Keogh JM, Petterson B, Stanley FJ, et al. Autism following a history of newborn encephalopathy: more than a coincidence? Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology 2006;48(2):85-89.

(184) De Haan M, Wyatt JS, Roth S, Vargha-Khadem F, Gadian D, Mishkin M. Brain and cognitive-behavioural development after asphyxia at term birth. Developmental science 2006;9(4):350-358.

(185) Ott D, Siddarth P, Gurbani S, Koh S, Tournay A, Shields WD, et al. Behavioral disorders in pediatric epilepsy: unmet psychiatric need. Epilepsia 2003;44(4):591-597.

(186) Howe GW, Feinstein C, Reiss D, Molock S, Berger K. Adolescent Adjustment to Chronic Physical Disorders—I. Comparing Neurological and Non-Neurological Conditions. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry 1993;34(7):1153-1171.

(187) Austin JK, Dunn DW, Johnson CS, Perkins SM. Behavioral issues involving children and adolescents with epilepsy and the impact of their families: recent research data. Epilepsy Behav 2004 Oct;5 Suppl 3:S33-41.

(188) Austin JK, Huster GA, Dunn DW, Risinger MW. Adolescents with active or inactive epilepsy or asthma: a comparison of quality of life. Epilepsia 1996;37(12):1228-1238.

(189) Tamer S. The pediatric non-epileptic seizure. The Indian Journal of Pediatrics 1997;64(5):671-676.

(190) Verrotti A, Agostinelli S, Mohn A, Manco R, Coppola G, Franzoni E, et al. Clinical features of psychogenic non-epileptic seizures in prepubertal and pubertal patients with idiopathic epilepsy. Neurological Sciences 2009;30(4):319-323.

(191) Hitiris N, Mohanraj R, Norrie J, Sills GJ, Brodie MJ. Predictors of pharmacoresistant epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 2007;75(2-3):192-196.

(192) Cramer JA, Blum D, Reed M, Fanning K, Epilepsy Impact Project Group. The influence of comorbid depression on seizure severity. Epilepsia 2003;44(12):1578-1584.

(193) Forsetlund L, Bjørndal A, Rashidian A, Jamtvedt G, O'Brien MA, Wolf FM, et al. Continuing education meetings and workshops: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes. Cochrane database of systematic reviews 2009(2).

(194) Grimshaw JM, Russell IT. Effect of clinical guidelines on medical practice: a systematic review of rigorous evaluations. LANCET-LONDON- 1993:1317-1317.

(195) Toczek MT, Carson RE, Lang L, Ma Y, Spanaki MV, Der MG, et al. PET imaging of 5-HT1A receptor binding in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy. Neurology 2003 Mar 11;60(5):749-756.

(196) Theodore WH. Does serotonin play a role in epilepsy? Epilepsy currents 2003;3(5):173-177.

(197) Bagdy G, Kecskemeti V, Riba P, Jakus R. Serotonin and epilepsy. J Neurochem 2007;100(4):857-873.

(198) Isaac M. Serotonergic 5-HT2C receptors as a potential therapeutic target for the design antiepileptic drugs. Current topics in medicinal chemistry 2005;5(1):59-67.

(199) Bonnycastle D, Giarman N, Paasonen M. ANTICONVULSANT COMPOUNDS AND 5-HYDROXY-TRYPTAMINE IN RAT BRAIN. British journal of pharmacology and chemotherapy 1957;12(2):228-231.

(200) Kanekar S, Sheth CS, Ombach HJ, Olson PR, Bogdanova OV, Petersen M, et al. Hypobaric hypoxia exposure in rats differentially alters antidepressant efficacy of the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors fluoxetine, paroxetine, escitalopram and sertraline. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior 2018;170:25-35. (201) Pearlin LI, Schooler C. The structure of coping. J Health Soc Behav 1978:2-21.

(202) Vickrey BG, Hays RD, Graber J, Rausch R, Engel Jr J, Brook RH. A healthrelated quality of life instrument for patients evaluated for epilepsy surgery. Med Care 1992:299-319.

(203) Montgomery S. Antidepressants and seizures: emphasis on newer agents and clinical implications. Int J Clin Pract 2005;59(12):1435-1440.

(204) Rosenstein DL, Nelson JC, Jacobs SC. Seizures associated with antidepressants: a review. J Clin Psychiatry 1993.

(205) Kanner AM, Kozak AM, Frey M. The use of sertraline in patients with epilepsy: is it safe? Epilepsy & Behavior 2000;1(2):100-105.

(206) Thomé-Souza M, Kuczynski E, Valente K. Sertraline and fluoxetine: safe treatments for children and adolescents with epilepsy and depression. Epilepsy & Behavior 2007;10(3):417-425.

(207) Alper K, Schwartz KA, Kolts RL, Khan A. Seizure incidence in psychopharmacological clinical trials: an analysis of Food and Drug Administration (FDA) summary basis of approval reports. Biol Psychiatry 2007;62(4):345-354.

(208) Favale E, Rubino V, Mainardi P, Lunardi G, Albano C. Anticonvulsant effect of fluoxetine in humans. Neurology 1995 Oct;45(10):1926-1927.

(209) Favale E, Audenino D, Cocito L, Albano C. The anticonvulsant effect of citalopram as an indirect evidence of serotonergic impairment in human epileptogenesis. Seizure 2003;12(5):316-318.

(210) Specchio LM, Iudice A, Specchio N, La Neve A, Spinelli A, Galli R, et al. Citalopram as treatment of depression in patients with epilepsy. Clin Neuropharmacol 2004;27(3):133-136.

(211) The protective effects of lestaurtinib (CEP-701) against long-term behavioral deficits following early life hypoxic seizures. ; 2015.

(212) Williams P, White A, Ferraro D, Clark S, Staley K, Dudek FE. The use of radiotelemetry to evaluate electrographic seizures in rats with kainate-induced epilepsy. J Neurosci Methods 2006;155(1):39-48.

(213) Ojemann LM, Friel PN, Trejo WJ, Dudley DL. Effect of doxepin on seizure frequency in depressed epileptic patients. Neurology 1983 May;33(5):646-648.

(214) Irene H, Jostein H, Øystein K. Implementing clinical guidelines in the treatment of hypertension in general practice: evaluation of patient outcome related to implementation of a computer-based clinical decision support system. Scand J Prim Health Care 1999;17(1):35-40. (215) Searle J, Grover S, Santin A, Weideman P. Randomised trial of an integrated educational strategy to reduce investigation rates in young women with dysfunctional uterine bleeding. Australian and New Zealand journal of obstetrics and gynaecology 2002;42(4):397-402.

(216) Dunn DW. Should pediatric neurologists play a role in the management of the most common psychiatric comorbidities in children with epilepsy? Practical considerations. Epilepsy & Behavior 2019;98:314-317.

(217) Noyes R, Perry PJ, Crowe RR, Coryell WH, Clancy J, Yamada T, et al. Seizures following the withdrawal of alprazolam. J Nerv Ment Dis 1986.

(218) Yan Q, Jobe PC, Cheong JH, Ko KH, Dailey JW. Role of serotonin in the anticonvulsant effect of fluoxetine in genetically epilepsy-prone rats. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 1994;350(2):149-152.

(219) Liou S. How do SSRIs work? Available at: https://hopes.stanford.edu/ssris/.

(220) Eisch AJ, Bolaños CA, de Wit J, Simonak RD, Pudiak CM, Barrot M, et al. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor in the ventral midbrain–nucleus accumbens pathway: a role in depression. Biol Psychiatry 2003;54(10):994-1005.

(221) Rein T, Ambrée O, Fries GR, Rappeneau V, Schmidt U, Touma C. The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in depression: molecular regulation, pathophysiological role, and translational implications. Neurobiology of depression: Elsevier; 2019. p. 89-96.

(222) human and rat brain. Available at: https://www.bioserendipity.com/neuron-and-glia-remodeling-contribute-to-male-behavior/rat_human_brain/.

(223) Ren-Patterson RF, Cochran LW, Holmes A, Sherrill S, Huang S, Tolliver T, et al. Loss of brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene allele exacerbates brain monoamine deficiencies and increases stress abnormalities of serotonin transporter knockout mice. J Neurosci Res 2005;79(6):756-771.

(224) Saarelainen T, Hendolin P, Lucas G, Koponen E, Sairanen M, MacDonald E, et al. Activation of the TrkB neurotrophin receptor is induced by antidepressant drugs and is required for antidepressant-induced behavioral effects. J Neurosci 2003 Jan 1;23(1):349-357.

(225) Martinowich K, Manji H, Lu B. New insights into BDNF function in depression and anxiety. Nat Neurosci 2007;10(9):1089.

(226) Dwivedi Y, Rizavi HS, Conley RR, Roberts RC, Tamminga CA, Pandey GN. Altered gene expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and receptor tyrosine kinase B in postmortem brain of suicide subjects. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2003;60(8):804-815. (227) Karege F, Vaudan G, Schwald M, Perroud N, La Harpe R. Neurotrophin levels in postmortem brains of suicide victims and the effects of antemortem diagnosis and psychotropic drugs. Mol Brain Res 2005;136(1-2):29-37.

(228) Krishnan V, Han M, Graham DL, Berton O, Renthal W, Russo SJ, et al. Molecular adaptations underlying susceptibility and resistance to social defeat in brain reward regions. Cell 2007;131(2):391-404.

(229) Sun H, Kennedy PJ, Nestler EJ. Epigenetics of the depressed brain: role of histone acetylation and methylation. Neuropsychopharmacology 2013;38(1):124-137.

(230) Hashimoto K. Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor (BDNF): TrkB Signaling in Depression–Biomarker and Novel Therapeutic Target. Melatonin, Neuroprotective Agents and Antidepressant Therapy: Springer; 2016. p. 621-629.

(231) Zhang J, Yao W, Hashimoto K. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF)-TrkB signaling in inflammation-related depression and potential therapeutic targets. Current neuropharmacology 2016;14(7):721-731.

(232) Poppenk J, Evensmoen HR, Moscovitch M, Nadel L. Long-axis specialization of the human hippocampus. Trends Cogn Sci (Regul Ed) 2013;17(5):230-240.

(233) Cajal SR. Histologie du syste me nerveux de l'Homme et des verte be s. Maloine (Paris) 1911;2:891-942.

(234) WITTER MP, GROENEWEGEN HJ, LOPES DA SILVA FH, LOHMAN AHM. Functional organization of the extrinsic and intrinsic circuitry of the parahippocampal region. Prog Neurobiol 1989;33(3):161-253.

(235) Rubin RD, Watson PD, Duff MC, Cohen NJ. The role of the hippocampus in flexible cognition and social behavior. Frontiers in human neuroscience 2014;8:742.

(236) McDonald AJ, Mott DD. Functional neuroanatomy of amygdalohippocampal interconnections and their role in learning and memory. J Neurosci Res 2017;95(3):797-820.

(237) Blankenship SL, Redcay E, Dougherty LR, Riggins T. Development of hippocampal functional connectivity during childhood. Hum Brain Mapp 2017;38(1):182-201.

(238) Evensmoen HR, Lehn H, Xu J, Witter MP, Nadel L, Håberg AK. The Anterior Hippocampus Supports a Coarse, Global Environmental Representation and the Posterior Hippocampus Supports Fine-grained, Local Environmental Representations. J Cogn Neurosci 2013;25(11):1908-1925.

(239) Maguire EA, Mullally SL. The Hippocampus: A Manifesto for Change. Journal of experimental psychology.General 2013;142(4):1180-1189.

(240) Tolman EC. Cognitive maps in rats and men. Psychol Rev 1948;55(4):189-208.

(241) O'Neil EB, Newsome RN, Li IHN, Thavabalasingam S, Ito R, Lee ACH. Examining the Role of the Human Hippocampus in Approach-Avoidance Decision Making Using a Novel Conflict Paradigm and Multivariate Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging. The Journal of neuroscience 2015;35(45):15039-15049.

(242) Ji J, Maren S. Differential roles for hippocampal areas CA1 and CA3 in the contextual encoding and retrieval of extinguished fear. Learn Mem 2008 Apr 3;15(4):244-251.

(243) Koenigs M, Grafman J. The functional neuroanatomy of depression: distinct roles for ventromedial and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. Behav Brain Res 2009;201(2):239-243.

(244) Gardner RJ, Kersanté F, Jones MW, Bartsch U. Neural oscillations during nonrapid eye movement sleep as biomarkers of circuit dysfunction in schizophrenia. Eur J Neurosci 2014;39(7):1091-1106.

(245) Uylings HB, van Eden CG. Qualitative and quantitative comparison of the prefrontal cortex in rat and in primates, including humans. Prog Brain Res 1991;85:31-62.

(246) Vertes RP. Interactions among the medial prefrontal cortex, hippocampus and midline thalamus in emotional and cognitive processing in the rat. Neuroscience 2006;142(1):1-20.

(247) Kesner RP, Churchwell JC. An analysis of rat prefrontal cortex in mediating executive function. Neurobiol Learn Mem 2011;96(3):417-431.

(248) Euston DR, Gruber AJ, McNaughton BL. The role of medial prefrontal cortex in memory and decision making. Neuron 2012;76(6):1057-1070.

(249) Heidbreder CA, Groenewegen HJ. The medial prefrontal cortex in the rat: evidence for a dorso-ventral distinction based upon functional and anatomical characteristics. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews 2003;27(6):555-579.

(250) Condé F, Maire-lepoivre E, Audinat E, Crepel F. Afferent connections of the medial frontal cortex of the rat. II. Cortical and subcortical afferents. J Comp Neurol 1995;352(4):567-593.

(251) Hoover WB, Vertes RP. Anatomical analysis of afferent projections to the medial prefrontal cortex in the rat. Brain Structure and Function 2007;212(2):149-179.

(252) Churchwell JC, Morris AM, Musso ND, Kesner RP. Prefrontal and hippocampal contributions to encoding and retrieval of spatial memory. Neurobiol Learn Mem 2010;93(3):415-421.

(253) Barbas H, Blatt GJ. Topographically specific hippocampal projections target functionally distinct prefrontal areas in the rhesus monkey. Hippocampus 1995;5(6):511-533.

(254) Rosene DL, Van Hoesen GW. Hippocampal efferents reach widespread areas of cerebral cortex and amygdala in the rhesus monkey. Science 1977 Oct 21;198(4314):315-317.

(255) Thierry A, Gioanni Y, Dégénétais E, Glowinski J. Hippocampo-prefrontal cortex pathway: Anatomical and electrophysiological characteristics. Hippocampus 2000;10(4):411-419.

(256) Cassel J, De Vasconcelos AP, Loureiro M, Cholvin T, Dalrymple-Alford JC, Vertes RP. The reuniens and rhomboid nuclei: neuroanatomy, electrophysiological characteristics and behavioral implications. Prog Neurobiol 2013;111:34-52.

(257) Sigurdsson T, Duvarci S. Hippocampal-prefrontal interactions in cognition, behavior and psychiatric disease. Frontiers in systems neuroscience 2016;9:190.

(258) Tien N, Kerschensteiner D. Homeostatic plasticity in neural development. Neural development 2018;13(1):1-7.

(259) Gould VE, Lee I, Wiedenmann B, Moll R, Chejfec G, Franke WW. Synaptophysin: A novel marker for neurons, certain neuroendocrine cells, and their neoplasms. Hum Pathol 1986;17(10):979-983.

(260) Takamori S, Holt M, Stenius K, Lemke EA, Grønborg M, Riedel D, et al. Molecular Anatomy of a Trafficking Organelle. Cell (Cambridge) 2006;127(4):831-846.

(261) Eastwood SL, Harrison PJ. Synaptic pathology in the anterior cingulate cortex in schizophrenia and mood disorders. A review and a Western blot study of synaptophysin, GAP-43 and the complexins. Brain Res Bull 2001;55(5):569-578.

(262) Gordon SL, Cousin MA. X-linked intellectual disability-associated mutations in synaptophysin disrupt synaptobrevin II retrieval. J Neurosci 2013 Aug 21;33(34):13695-13700.

(263) Northington FJ. Brief update on animal models of hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy and neonatal stroke. ILAR journal 2006;47(1):32-38.

(264) Gonzalez H, Hunter CJ, Bennet L, Power GG, Gunn AJ. Cerebral oxygenation during postasphyxial seizures in near-term fetal sheep. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism 2005;25(7):911-918.

(265) Clancy B, Darlington R, Finlay B. Translating developmental time across mammalian species. Neuroscience 2001;105(1):7-17.

(266) Jensen F, Wang C, Stafstrom C, Liu Z, Geary C, Stevens M. Acute and chronic increases in excitability in rat hippocampal slices after perinatal hypoxia in vivo. J Neurophysiol 1998;79(1):73-81.

(267) Porsolt RD, Le Pichon M, Jalfre M. Depression: a new animal model sensitive to antidepressant treatments. Nature 1977;266(5604):730-732.

(268) West CHK, Weiss JM. A selective test for antidepressant treatments using rats bred for stress-induced reduction of motor activity in the swim test. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2005;182(1):9-23.

(269) Gomez F, Venero C, Viveros M, García-García L. Short-term fluoxetine treatment induces neuroendocrine and behavioral anxiogenic-like responses in adolescent male rats. Experimental brain research 2015;233(3):983-995.

(270) Calhoun ME, Jucker M, Martin LJ, Thinakaran G, Price DL, Mouton PR. Comparative evaluation of synaptophysin-based methods for quantification of synapses. J Neurocytol 1996;25(12):821.

(271) Tata DA, Dandi E, Spandou E. Expression of synaptophysin and BDNF in the medial prefrontal cortex following early life stress and neonatal hypoxia-ischemia. Dev Psychobiol 2021;63(2):173-182.

(272) Fang S, Yan B, Wang D, Bi X, Zhang Y, He J, et al. Chronic effects of venlafaxine on synaptophysin and neuronal cell adhesion molecule in the hippocampus of cerebral ischemic mice. Biochemistry and Cell Biology 2010;88(4):655-663.

(273) Tata DA, Markostamou I, Ioannidis A, Dandi E, Kostopoulou E, Simeonidou C, et al. Effects of Maternal Separation and Neonatal Hypoxia-Ischemia on Markers of Brain damage and Plasticity in Adult Rats.

(274) Obeid M, Rosenberg EC, Klein PM, Jensen FE. Lestaurtinib (CEP-701) attenuates "second hit" kainic acid-induced seizures following early life hypoxic seizures. Epilepsy Res 2014;108(4):806-810.

(275) Kokotos AC, Harper CB, Marland JRK, Smillie KJ, Cousin MA, Gordon SL. Synaptophysin sustains presynaptic performance by preserving vesicular synaptobrevin-II levels. J Neurochem 2019;151(1):28-37.

(276) Schmitt U, Tanimoto N, Seeliger M, Schaeffel F, Leube R. Detection of behavioral alterations and learning deficits in mice lacking synaptophysin. Neuroscience 2009;162(2):234-243.

(277) Harper CB, Mancini GM, van Slegtenhorst M, Cousin MA. Altered synaptobrevin-II trafficking in neurons expressing a synaptophysin mutation associated with a severe neurodevelopmental disorder. Neurobiol Dis 2017;108:298-306.